Transit Accessibility and Equity Evaluation of Bus Rapid Transit system:

The case of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

EMMANUEL MALIWA February, 2019

SUPERVISORS: Dr. S. Amer Dr. A.B. Grigolon



Transit Accessibility and Equity Evaluation of Bus Rapid Transit System: The case of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania

EMMANUEL MALIWA Enschede, The Netherlands, March, 2019

Thesis submitted to the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Geo-information Science and Earth Observation. Specialization: Urban Planning and Management.

SUPERVISORS: Dr. S. Amer Dr. A.B. Grigolon

THESIS ASSESSMENT BOARD: Prof. J.A. Zevenbergen (Chair) Dr. K. Gkiotsalitis, (External Examiner, Centre of Transport Studies -Faculty of Engineering Technology, University of Twente) Dr. S. Amer Dr. A.B. Grigolon

DISCLAIMER

This document describes work undertaken as part of a programme of study at the Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation of the University of Twente. All views and opinions expressed therein remain the sole responsibility of the author and do not necessarily represent those of the Faculty.

ABSTRACT

In recent decades, one of the popular sustainable mass transport systems implement in the Global South including African cities is Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) system. BRT system has been embraced not only because of its unique characteristics of promoting sustainable mobility, but it can achieve progressive benefits such as enhancement of access for all socio-economic groups, particularly the poor who are car-less. It is in line with this, this present study aimed to evaluate the equity based on accessibility to job locations across socioeconomic groups who are within 20 minutes walking distance to the proposed Dar es Salaam Rapid Transit (DART) system, and explore the possible residential areas for the DART system extension in order to enhance equity within Dar es Salaam. To do so, this study used both spatial and non-spatial datasets, with the quantitative methodological approach (i.e., spatial and statistical methods) to explore the likely future impacts of the DART system focusing on vertical equity. A GIS-based network analysis was used to estimate the physical accessibility while Lorenz and Gini-indices to measure inequity levels across socio-economic groups. In short, it was found that within the city the proposed DART system can serve a large residential area with a large number of population and provide more access to the bus stops within a desirable walking distance of 20 minutes to the least deprived population compared to other deprived population. Secondly, the proposed DART system can promote high potential of opportunities for interaction as it can connect a large number of population to countless formal job locations but does not result in the equitable spatial distribution of job accessibility across the socio-economic groups as measured by the Gini-indices. Thirdly, the current service area by the proposed DART system signifies its extension of the corridors to the city's periphery where the most deprived population reside. This can enhance fairly equitable access not only to the bus stops but also to the job opportunities. The DART system 's extension can be accompanied by the implementation of land use policies on effective spatial distribution of both formal and informal activities to reduce the city's monocentric structure in terms of employment.

Keywords: Bus Rapid Transit (BRT), Accessibility, Equity, Socio-economic groups, GIS network analysis

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My sincere appreciation goes to the Almighty **God** for His grace He provided for this work.

My earnest gratitude to my supervisors Dr. S. Amer and Dr. A.B. Grigolon in Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation in Urban Planning and Management at **ITC**, **University of Twente**, Netherland for their helpful advice and support in the course of writing this thesis.

I thank the Netherlands Fellowship Programmes (NFP/OKP) for all the financial support.

I appreciate the support from the following Heads of Institutions: Dar es Salaam Rapid Transit (**DART**), National Bureau Statistic of Tanzania (**NBS**) and Tanzania Revenue Authority (**TRA**). Special thanks to my parents, my beloved wife and other family members for their support.

Last but not least, I thank all my friends, classmates and unnamed individuals or organisation that contributed in any kind to the completion of this study.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TAF	BLE O	F CONTENT			
LIST	LIST OF FIGURESiv				
LIST	LIST OF TABLESv				
LIST	LIST OF APPENDICES				
LIST	LIST OF ACRONYMSvii				
1.	INTR	ODUCTION	1		
	1.1.	Research background	1		
	1.3.	Research problem	2		
	1.4.	Research objectives and questions	3		
	1.5.	Conceptual framework	4		
2.	LITE	RATURE REVIEW	6		
	2.1.	BRT system in the Global South cities	6		
	2.2.	BRT system as a concept in Dar es Salaam	6		
	2.3.	Accessibility	6		
	2.4.	Equity	9		
	2.5.	Transport System and GIS network analysis	. 12		
3.	STUE	DY AREA AND RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	13		
	3.1.	Study area	. 13		
	3.2.	Research methodology	. 18		
4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION					
	4.1.	Accessibility estimation	. 37		
	4.2.	Equity evaluation based on accessibility to job locations	. 42		
	4.3.	Potential residential areas for DART system extension	. 43		
	4.4.	Discussion on the results	. 46		
5. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION					
LIST OF REFERENCES					
APF	APPENDICES				

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1: Conceptual Framework	4
Figure 1-2: Thesis structure	5
Figure 2-1: Lorenz curve	11
Figure 2-2: Examples of 3D network representation in the GIS environment	12
Figure 3-1: Location of the study area.	15
Figure 3-2: Absolute and relative population growth of Dar es Salaam	15
Figure 3-3: Population density by wards of Dar es Salaam 2012.	16
Figure 3-4: Dar es Salaam public transport corridors	17
Figure 3-5: Methodological Workflow	18
Figure 3-6: Existing (phase-1) and other phases of the proposed DART system	20
Figure 3-7: Location of job centers/workplaces	21
Figure 3-8: Multidimensional-poverty-index of Dar es Salaam (high value represents a high poverty leve	el,
and low value represents low poverty)	22
Figure 3-9: Example of identified road junction at "X" (using ArcGIS software) not	
connected/undershoot (i), and its reality on the ground (ii)	23
Figure 3-10 Example of identified road junction at "A" (using ArcGIS software) not digitized as segme	ent
lines (i), and its reality on the ground (ii)	23
Figure 3-11: Estimation of population in hexagons using Arc-GIS software	25
Figure 3-12: Extraction of MPI values to hexagons using Arc-GIS software	26
Figure 3-13: Aggregation of job location data into hexagons using Arc-GIS software	27
Figure 3-14 Spatial distribution of socio-economic groups stratified by using MPI	29
Figure 3-15: Spatial distribution of job locations aggregated in hexagon polygons	29
Figure 3-16: Trip along the DART system	30
Figure 3-17: A 3D-multimodal network of the DART system	31
Figure 3-18: Network representation between road and DART networks in a GIS environment	31
Figure 3-19: Flowchart for the proximity of socio-economic groups to the DART system	33
Figure 3-20: Flowchart for accessibility of socio-economic groups to job locations	34
Figure 3-21: The flow chart for identifying roads for DART system extension	36
Figure 4-1: Service area of the proposed DART system based on walking time to stops	38
Figure 4-2: Residential area and total population proximity to the proposed DART stops	38
Figure 4-3: Percentage of each residential group per walking time intervals of five minutes to the propo	osed
DART stops	39
Figure 4-4: Number of accessible jobs within 30min, 45min, and 60min by the proposed DART netwo	rk 41
Figure 4-5: Mean number of accessible jobs per socio-economic group within 30min, 45min, and 60mi	n.
by DART network	41
Figure 4-6: Lorenz curves and Gini indices for each socio-economic group at different travel times	43
Figure 4-7: Population size (in percentage and absolute number) by socio-economic groups not served	by
the proposed DART system	43
Figure 4-8: Potential residential areas (with population size) for the proposed DART system extension.	45
Figure 4-9: Potential residential areas for the proposed DART system extension	45
Figure 4-10: Identified roads for the proposed DART system extension	46

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3-1: Summary of datasets	
Table 3-2: DART attribute variables for phase-1	
Table 4-1: Residential areas and population within and out of walking distance to the nearest DART	Г stops
Table 4-2: Population by socio-economic groups within walking time to the proposed DART stops	s 39

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1: BRT phase-1 on segregated lanes while commuter buses/daladala on mixed lanes	58
Appendix 2: BRT phase-1, trunk, and its feeder routes	59
Appendix 3: Preparation process of DART routes/ service lines	60
Appendix 4: Preparation process of False bus stops and Dummy links/connectors	61
Appendix 5: Connectivity of road and DART datasets in GIS software	61
Appendix 6: Attribute variables used to compute accessibility in GIS-environment	62

LIST OF ACRONYMS

GIS - Geographic information system TNBS - Tanzania National Bureau of Statistics DART - Dar es Salaam Rapid Transit DSM - Dar es Salaam MPI – Multidimensional Poverty Index

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Research background

In recent decades, the urban population around the world has dramatically increased. This has resulted in challenges such as urban sprawl, slum creation, lack of affordable housing, rapid motorization etc. (Cohen, 2006). It is estimated that by 2050 around 66% of the world's population will live in urban areas (UNDESA, 2014) and this will lead to high demand for physical infrastructure such as transport infrastructures.

Transport in an urban context is a lifeblood of cities and has two modes of services which include public and private transportation (Verbich & El-Geneidy, 2017). In this 21st century, public transport calls for global attention to ensure mass mobility and meet the demands of all people. Also public transport, especially in developing countries, has become the most viable service over non-motorized transport as it enhances accessibility to services that are beyond walking and cycling distances (Wright, 2002). It helps to boost the economy and wealth of the whole city. Moreover good public transport reduces over-dependence on private vehicles because it is affordable although not for all (Carruthers, Dick, & Saurkar, 2005). For the improvement of the weaknesses (e.g., excessive greenhouse gas emission, traffic congestion, unscheduled services) associated with particularly poor public transport, most governments globally try to develop sustainable public transport strategies. Such sustainable strategies have been able to reduce the weaknesses meanwhile providing quality service to the people (Transportation Association of Canada, 2007). According to Ford, Barr, Dawson, and James (2015), also these sustainable strategies have led to the emphasis on the importance of accessibility for economic development, reduction of carbon emission from motorized transport, and provision of transport means for all urban population. However, public transport which is supposed to serve the demand of all population appears not being accessible to disadvantaged people (Lättman, Friman, & Olsson, 2016).

1.2. Research justification

Sustainable public transport strategies have been developed since the 1970s (Wright, 2002). One of the popular and cost-effective approaches to implement particularly in developing countries is the Bus Rapid Transit (BRT). BRT was first implemented in Curitiba-Brazil, later in Bogota-Colombia, Rio de Janeiro-Brazil (Wright, 2002) and in recent decades adopted across many Asian and African cities. According to Nkurunziza, van Maarseveen, and Zuidgeest (2013), BRT has unique characteristics that distinguish it from conventional local buses, which include segregated bus lanes, safe and comfortable terminals, off-board fare collection and regular schedule operations. BRT like other public transport systems has been developed and adopted in cities to mitigate carbon emission as well as to enhance urban mobility such as accessibility to opportunities and reducing inequity based on accessibility. Its success, however particularly in promoting equity based on accessibility depends on the service coverage to enhance the accessibility of people to the service itself and available urban opportunities (Ahmed, Lu, & Ye, 2007).

Equity generally is defined from three pillars of sustainable development (i.e. economic, social and environmental dimensions) as an overlap between social and economic dimensions (Venter, Jennings, Hidalgo, & Valderrama Pineda, 2017). It concerns with fairness in the distribution of wealth, opportunities, and privileges within a society. According to McCahill and Ebeling (2015) equity in sustainable public transport strategies is defined in four dimensions which include accessibility, affordability, health and safety (i.e., exposure to the pollutant, the risk of death), and procedural equity (i.e. delivered service should include interests of different groups).

In recent decades, accessibility is a primary dimension which often used to evaluate transport strategies (Bocarejo & Oviedo, 2011; Fan, Guthrie, & Levinson, 2012). It expresses an easenes or difficulties to reach

socio-economic activities/ services/opportunities (jobs, education, health facilities, etc.) by all socioeconomic groups. For individuals to participate in daily activities, it highly depends on their mobility levels either to either compulsory or non-compulsory activities, which influences quality of life and improves wellbeing of individuals (Shah & Adhvaryu, 2016). Public transport provision, therefore can improve mass mobility and hence accessibility in urban areas where there is a diversity of socio-economic groups.

There has been an increasing consideration of equity aspects in sustainable public transport strategies as a long-term objective (El-Geneidy, Levinson, Diab, Boisjoly, Verbich, & Loong, 2016). The aim is to ensure fair distribution of transport resources across all population groups. The implementation of BRT is propoor strategy to promote fairness in transport and its inherent political process often linked with poverty alleviation agenda to improve the accessibility of people to services (Jennings, 2015). BRT in developing cites is often found in urban areas with a high level of income disparity, poor spatial land use arrangement and informality (Venter et al., 2017). Equity aspect in BRT system can be evaluated by focusing on accessibility impacts of the system to include marginalized urban groups who are likely to be transit dependents (Pereira, 2018; Karner & Niemeier, 2013).

The use of transport accessibility measures to assess the impacts of public transport such as BRT system has helped the planners and decision makers to understand the integration of land use and public transport as well as equity of transport benefit spatially (El-Geneidy et al., 2016). Jaramillo, Lizárraga, and Grindlay (2012) developed accessibility theoretical framework and index of social transport needs for the city of Santiago de Cali in Colombia. The index was compared with transport provision index of BRT and highlighted the difference between need and supply. They conclude that the BRT system needs some specific measures (e.g., lower fares for low-income earners, service adapted for disabled, extending BRT lines) to include many disadvantaged users. El-Geneidy et al. (2016) described the operation of public transport including the BRT system to assess the social disparity in Montreal city in Canada. They tried to investigate the effect of travel time and cost fare to accessible jobs for marginalized people. They concluded that allocating public transport in equitable manner also relates to travel cost because it considers financial affordability. Also, Bocarejo and Oviedo (2011) used accessibility concept to evaluate the equity impact of the new BRT line in city Bogota. They used travel time budget to analyse the accessibility levels of neighbourhoods to different labour market zones. They concluded that the new BRT line could improve the accessibility of socio-economic disadvantage neighbourhoods if it is integrated with other public transport networks and lower fare structure in such neighbourhoods. Although different studies about the BRT system and equity have been done, most of them do not focus in the context of African cities where BRT system is gaining support from donor institutions with the aim of promoting sustainable mobility to enhance accessibility of all socio-economic groups to job locations, especially the poor (Venter et al., 2017). Therefore, this research seeks to focus on the case of Dar es Salaam city in Tanzania, to understand the relationship between BRT system and equity based on accessibility.

1.3. Research problem

In many African cities, the public transport service is provided by private minibus transport system at affordable prices at least for all urban residents (Venter et al., 2017). The service in many cities is characterized by unscheduled service, poor vehicle condition, traffic congestion, and excessive carbon emission. These characteristics compelled some cities in Africa since 2008 to introduce the BRT system as an alternative means of improving public bus transport system (Venter et al., 2017).

Just like other cities in Africa, Dar es Salaam in Tanzania has started the implementation of a BRT system branded as Dar es Salaam Rapid Transit (DART) to improve its public transport system within the city. It is popularly known to be the fifth BRT system to be implemented in Africa after Lagos (2008), Johannesburg (2009), Cape Town (2010) and George-South Africa (2015). The DART system has six implementation phases. The first phase which is already implemented started operation in 2016. According to DART (2014), by 2035 the implementation of the DART system would be completed along all major road corridors of Dar es Salaam. The routes of the DART system are expected to replace the current public bus transport routes which are currently served by minibuses (Daladala). The DART system has the potential to affect the mobility and accessibility to activities of urban residents who presently depend on minibuses since its operations differs from the minibuses.

Dar es Salaam which is populated with different socio-economic urban population (Ahferon, 2009) who mostly depend on public transport to access their daily activities especially jobs (DSM City Council, 2008; Mfinanga, 2012). With the introduction of the DART system as a new complementary public transport system may affect the spatial accessibility of urban residents to public transport service and job locations which are widely dispersed across the space (Kiunsi, 2013). The proposed DART system aims to provide equitable access to transport service for all urban residents and also improve access to other opportunities (Venter et al., 2017). However, studies emphasized that little is known about BRT system in promoting equitable accessibility to job locations in the Global South cities, particularly African cities. The impact of the proposed DART system in promoting equity based on accessibility to job locations for all socio-economic groups close to the proposed DART network is yet to be studied. It is in this light that, this research aims to evaluate the likely future impact of the proposed DART system in promoting equity based on accessibility to job locations for all socio-economic groups within the city of Dar es Salaam.

1.4. Research objectives and questions

1.4.1. General objective

This research aims to evaluate the equity based on accessibility to job locations across the socio-economic groups who are within walking distance to the proposed DART system. In order to enhance equity within the Dar es Salaam city, possible residential areas are explored for the DART system extension.

1.4.2. Specific objective

- i. To analyze accessibility to job locations for socio-economic groups who are within walking distance to the proposed DART system.
- ii. To evaluate the equity level of socio-economic groups based on accessibility to job locations.
- iii. To explore possible residential areas where the proposed DART system could be extended to enhance equity based on accessibility to job locations.

1.4.3. Research questions

Objective i: To analyze accessibility to job locations for socio-economic groups who are within walking time to the proposed DART system.

- a) What is the service area of the proposed DART system, and the population that can be served within walking time?
- b) What is the number of accessible job locations for each socio-economic groups who are within walking time to the proposed DART system?

Objective ii: To determine the degrees of inequity based on accessibility to job locations across socioeconomic groups.

a) What is the degrees of inequity based on accessibility to job locations across each socio-economic groups?

Objective iii: To explore possible residential areas where the proposed DART system could be extended to enhance equity based on accessibility to job locations.

- a) Which residential areas are unserved within walking distance to the proposed DART system?
- b) Which residential areas the proposed DART system could be extended to enhance equity level based on accessibility to job locations?

1.5. Conceptual framework

As the significant part that influences the research outputs (Hong, Jiang, & Yin, 2018), the conceptual framework of this research describes the relationship between accessibility and equity concepts in public bus transport (Figure 1.1). Three key elements, i.e., residential locations, job locations and public bus transport (DART system) play an important role in evaluating the equity of BRT system based on accessibility. All elements both have spatial and non-spatial interactions with each other. In this research, the accessibility of urban residents to job locations is operationalized by considering the residents who are within the service area (by walking) of the BRT system because in most cases the BRT system is expected to have a high benefit to those residents proximity to it by walking. The service area provides the general picture of how the BRT system is integrated with urban land use. The accessibility to job locations can be evaluated to realize the equity goal (i.e., fair distribution of accessibility impacts between individuals or groups) of the proposed DART system and provide valuable feedbacks to transport planners and policymakers about future public bus transport planning in Dar es Salaam.



1.6. Thesis structure

This research has five chapters. Chapter one which is about research identification presents the background and justification of the study, research problem, objectives and questions. Chapter two presents a literature review of relevant concepts of the study. Chapter three describes the research design and comprehensive methodology applied to the research. Chapter four presents the results of analysis and discussion of findings basing on the specific objectives of the study. Finally, chapter five provides a conclusion and recommendation of the study. A general graphical representation of the entire research process is shown in Figure 1.2.



Figure 1-2: Thesis structure

Research design matrix

Main Research Objective: To evaluate the equity based on accessibility to job locations across the socio-economic groups who are within walking distance to the proposed DART system. In order to enhance equity within the Dar es Salaam city, possible residential areas are explored for the DART system extension.

Specific Objectives		Research Question	Method	Data Required	Anticipated Results
i. To analyze accessibility to job locations for socio- economic groups who are within walking distance to the proposed DART system.	a. b.	What is the service area of the proposed DART system, and the population that can be served within walking distance? What is the number of accessible job locations per socio-economic groups who are within walking distance to the proposed DART system?	GIS-network based on service area. GIS-network based on OD Cost Matrix Statistical analysis	Transport datasets. Socio-economic datasets. Job location dataset.	The service area of the proposed DART system by walking. Population served within walking distance. Number of accessible job locations for each residential group.
ii. To determine the degrees of inequity based on accessibility to job locations across socio-economic groups	a.	What is the degrees of inequity based on accessibility to job locations across each socio-economic groups?	Statistical analysis		Lorenz curves and Gini- coefficients/indices.
iii. To explore potential areas where the proposed DART system could be extended to enhance equity based on accessibility to job locations.	a. b.	Which residential areas are unserved within walking distance to the proposed DART system? Which residential areas the proposed DART system could be extended to enhance equity level based on accessibility to job locations?	GIS-network based on OD Cost Matrix Statistical analysis	Transport datasets Socio-economic datasets	Possible road(s) for DART system extension.

2. LITERATURE REVIEW

This chapter presents briefly a view of the main concepts related to this research based on existing literature. The chapter has five main sections. The first two sections describe the BRT as a concept in Global south cities as well as in Dar es Salaam. The third section describes the accessibility concept by focusing on the definition of accessibility, accessibility components, accessibility measures and accessibility as a social indicator. The fourth section describes the concept of equity and how it can be assessed in transport planning. The last section describes GIS network analysis.

2.1. BRT system in the Global South cities

The concept of BRT as a transit system proposed by transport planners was initiated in 1974 in Curitiba-Brazil and later in Bogota-Columbia where it has gained wider popularity all over the world as a costeffective alternative to far more expensive modes of transport to the ordinary person (Deng & Nelson, 2011). Thus the concept of BRT sought to meet the needs of all especially the low-income class to give them the opportunity to commute to reach their job locations as much as possible (Cervero, Sandoval, & Landis, 2002). In the context of Africa, BRT is still at the nascent state and had been implemented in only five cities including Dar es Salaam.

2.2. BRT system as a concept in Dar es Salaam

In Dar es Salaam, like any other city in the Global South, BRT system emerged as an economical transit alternative not only to ease the pressure on already public transport systems known as Daladalas but to provide an opportunity for the low-income earners to reach their job locations (Chengula & Kombe, 2017). DART system which is expected to cover a total distance of 130.3 kilometres, is expected to save 90% of commuters in the city after its full completion which would increase the productivity of labour by the reduction in substantial time spent in traffic jams (Chengula & Kombe, 2017). Its phase one has chalked some success as it recorded waiting time for passengers at stations is reduced to more than 50% along the routes of that phase (Chengula & Kombe, 2017). Construction on the remaining phases is currently ongoing to carter for future transport needs of citizens.

2.3. Accessibility

2.3.1. Definition of Accessibility

As defined by Hansen (1959) accessibility is a measure of interaction of potential opportunities. Accessibility refers to the ease (or difficult) of reaching destinations and services. Accessibility captures the effort required to overcome the separation between two land use activities using a particular transport system (Dalvi & Martin, 1976). It usually reflects the utility associated with travelling between two land use activities. Such utility can be perceived or real costs in terms of distance, time, fare, comfort level, reliability, and availability of transport service. Geurs and van Wee (2004) also defined accessibility as an interaction between land use and transport system to enable people to reach and participate in activities using transport modes. Measuring accessibility provides important information that aids to evaluate and monitor the efficiency of the existing or proposed transport system. Such information reflects the performance of the service provided by a transport system connecting with land use.

In the context of this research, accessibility concept is used to analyse the ease of urban residents to reach the transport service as well as job locations using a BRT system. The distribution benefits of accessibility describe the efficiency of the DART system to commute different urban residents to economic activities and hence to improve the quality of life. The cost variable of travel time is used to measure the accessibility based on the DART system.

2.3.2. Components of Accessibility

As identified by Geurs and van Wee (2004) there are four components of accessibility which include land use, transport, individual, and temporal components. In practice, these components two or more can be combined to measure accessibility.

The land use component reflects the spatial arrangement of land use, and it consists of origins and destinations. Destinations are where the numbers of opportunities such as jobs are supplied. Origins are where the demand for the opportunities (residential areas) are located. Both origins and destinations are presented as point locations or zonal polygons, and their numbers in the study area depend on the scale of analysis (Cheng & Bertolini, 2013). For instance, if the accessibility analysis is at the individual levels, a point represents one person (origin) and job location as a destination. When the scale of analysis is at a larger level, the aggregation of some points (e.g., at the block level, track) is computed firstly.

The transportation component describes the transport network as a disutility for individuals to cover the distance between origin and destination using a particular transport mode. Disutility's are travel time, travel fare and level of comfort. In measuring accessibility, transport network (e.g., roads) is a key point of computing disutility. However other researchers use Euclidian distance to compute disutility, this always does not represent the reality (Nicholls, 2001; Zhen, 2013).

The individual component reflects the socio-economic characteristics of individuals to access the transport mode and spatial distribution of opportunities. Such characteristics include needs (e.g., depending on income, age), abilities (e.g., availability of transport mode, the physical condition of users) and opportunities (e.g., depending on a travel budget, education of users) of individuals.

The temporal component reflects the temporal constraints on both origin and destination. It focuses on different times available for an individual to participate/ reach the destination and different times available for the destination to be accessible.

2.3.3. Measures of Accessibility

According to Geurs and van Wee (2004), there are four basic perspectives/approaches on measuring accessibility that include; infrastructure-based measures, activity-based measure/location-based measures, utility-based measures, and person-based measures.

Infrastructure-based measures/Network connectivity measures analyse the efficiency of the transport network by focusing on the travel impedances (travel time, speed, etc.) and congestion level on the road network. These measures provide information on the service level of the transport infrastructure. Although the measures are easy to operationalize (e.g., needed data can be available, and the results are understood to the decision makers) but they do not consider the travel behaviour of travellers, temporal constraints, and spatial distribution of activities, i.e., land use.

Activity-based measures/location-based measures analyse the accessibility level at locations to the available spatially distributed opportunities/activities with respect to time. These measures are often used in urban planning and geographical studies. Commonly activity-based measures include cumulative/contour-opportunity measure, potential measure, and competition-based measure.

Cumulative-opportunity measure analyses the accessibility at locations by estimating the number of opportunities that can be reached within a specified travel cost (e.g., time, distance). For instance, the number of accessible jobs from origin locations within 30minutes travel time. The measure is not complicated to compute as it does not require information for the travel behaviour of people. Also, its results are easy to understand since it accounts for all destinations equally. The disadvantage of this measure

doesn't account for travellers' time perceptions and competition effect at origin and destination (Ben-Akiva & Lerman, 1979).

Potential measure/gravity measure analyses the accessibility level at locations by taking into account the probability of destinations to be reached. The probability is derived from travellers' behaviour using distance decay function and is used to weight the opportunities located in an area (Geurs & van Wee, 2004). Unlike the cumulative measure, the potential measure does not regard all opportunities are equally accessible from the origin by considering impedance and attraction of destinations. The measure is not easy to interpret, and the intrazonal potential has an impact on the potential values (Geertman & Ritsema Van Eck, 1995).

Competition-based measure analyse accessibility at locations by incorporating competition factors at origins and destinations. The measure accounts for imbalances in the spatial distribution of activities by examining the origin sides (e.g., workers) compete for each other for destinations (e.g., jobs) and destinations (e.g., employer) compete for each other for origins. The measure gives a more realistic picture of accessibility by considering both demand and supply sides, but its results are not easy to interpret (Cheng & Bertolini, 2013).

Utility-based measures analyse the accessibility based on how individuals perceived utility for different travel choices. The measures evaluate the derived benefit individuals can gain from accessing spatially distributed activities. However the measures meet the theoretical criteria of accessibility as described by Ben-Akiva and Lerman (1979), it is difficult to operationalize because of high data demand.

Person-based measures/Space-time measures analyse the accessibility at an individual level by integrating spatial and temporal aspects. The measures focus on an individual's freedom of action to participate in activities in a given time (i.e., the time available for an individual to participate in an activity is considered as a constraint). Although the measures meet theoretical criteria of accessibility as described by Ben-Akiva and Lerman (1979), it is difficult to use it at a large geographical scale.

Additionally, according to Joseph & Phillips (1984), the discussed accessibility measures above can be distinguished as potential/physical accessibility measures and revealed accessibility measures. Potential accessibility measures assess the physical access to services or opportunities in term of nature and pattern over space. They depend only on the relative location of demand/origin (e.g., population) and supply/destination (e.g., services or opportunities) and do not involve their actual interaction apart from travel time and or distance. They just assess the availability of services/opportunities moderated by space. Revealed accessibility measures on another hand try to overcome the weakness of the former one by considering the actual interaction between demand and supply sides.

The above subsections briefly explain types of measure and components of accessibility. But the selection of accessibility measure to be calculated/modelled in transport analysis is a subjective decision and depends on the goal of the research and availability of data (Albacete, 2016). In this sense, this research uses land use components (residential and job locations), transportation components (road and DART networks), and individual components (deprivation level of residents) to analyse accessibility of urban residents since it is possible to get data with such components. Also, the activity-based measure was used because it is often applied in urban planning studies (Geurs & van Wee, 2004). Gravity measure is appropriate to use as it provides a proper measure of accessibility between transport and land use interaction (Hansen, 1959). However, the results of this measure are harder to interpret and communicate with stakeholders. Hence cumulative measure, apart from not satisfy most of the accessibility theoretical criteria was applied since it can be used interchangeably with gravity measure due to their high correlation in interpretation (El-Geneidy & Levinson, 2006; El-Geneidy, Cerda, Fischler, & Luka, 2011).

2.3.4. Accessibility as a social indicator

In rare cases, accessibility is used to measure the well-being of urban dwellers. The means for easy reach to different land use functions, which influence social life, is determined by ease of access. Moreover, the

number of these destinations reached portrays improved society. Access to work, health services, market, education services, recreation, and other social and economic potentials determine the life of societies. Remote areas face difficulties especially regarding services mentioned above (Halden, Jones, & Wixey, 2005). In urban context inhabitants themselves, determine facilities they demand because opportunities tend to be scarce and unevenly distributed. On the other hand, the spatial organization of facilities and services follows the social and political status of groups mostly provide favour to some wealthy neighbourhoods (Knox, 1980).

It has been an important regard to the government and other private authority to ensure budget for accessibility. This is because the project developed for social and economic purposes should have easy reach. There are many influencing factors, which are both social and economic that push the development of the transport system. For instance, the increased population and economy create the need for a wider range of accessibility including regional highway networks, urban motorways, and rapid transport system (Knox, 1980).

2.4. Equity

2.4.1. Definition of Equity

It is important to evaluate equity in transport planning in order to understand the distribution of benefits over a geographical area (Foth, Manaugh, & El-Geneidy, 2013). Equity describes the fairness with which the benefits of the transport intervention (like the BRT system) are distributed to the different socioeconomic groups (Venter et al., 2017). Equity evaluation of public transport planning can be operationalized by measuring the accessibility levels of socio-economic groups. As defined by Lucas, van Wee, and Maat (2015) two types of equity are often defined in transport planning that is horizontal and vertical equity as discussed below

Horizontal equity is based on the notion that transport distribution benefits are not favouring one individual or group over others (Litman, 2018). It just focuses on the spatial distribution of transport benefits regardless of any groups or individuals. Each group gets what they pay for and pay for what they get from fees and taxes unless there is a certain kind of subsidies guaranteed (Litman, 2018).

Vertical equity is based on the concept that considers both the spatial distribution of transport benefits between population groups and compares such benefits across socio-economic groups, for example, vulnerable and marginalized groups. The vertical equity is interested in order to improve the inability among socio-economic groups to access the services, opportunities and goods (Jennings, 2015; Jones & Lucas, 2012)

Litman (2018) describes population categories on which equity can be judged in public transport planning. Such categories include population or activity density of traffic zones that focus on horizontal equity. On these categories, the traffic zones with high density represent the high demand for public transport service. On another hand, car ownership, income levels, age groups, ethnicity and deprivation levels focus on vertical equity as they related to the fairness of public transport supply. This type of equity is viewed in two dimensions as briefly explained below.

Vertical equity with regard to income and social class: This is also known as social justice and social inclusion which concerns with the distribution of impacts between groups that are heterogeneous either by income or social class. This looks transport policy to be equitable if it favour socially and economically disadvantaged groups as a way of compensating for overall inequities (Litman, 2018). This type of equity calls for support of mode improvements, special services and offering of a discount for lower income groups and extra efforts are being made to ensure that the less advantages do not bear excessive external costs.

Vertical equity with regard to mobility and need: This concerns with the distribution of impacts between which have different mobility ability and needs, the extent to which transportation system meets the specific

needs of commuters with mobility impairments. It accommodates all users including ones with special needs.

2.4.2. Equity in BRT

BRT as a public transport system contributes to social justice and social sustainability in the cities of Global South. It also serves a mechanism of promoting socially sustainable mobility, and it has been acknowledged to improving urban mobility through interventions such as busway improvements, efficient scheduled operations, and betterment of the urban environment (Cervero, 2013). BRT in the Global South is implemented as a pro-poor strategy aimed at alleviating poverty through improvement of access to opportunities and (Jennings, 2015; Jones & Lucas, 2012; Venter, Jennings, & Hidalgo, 2017). Specific examples include the Bogota TransMilenio in Columbia which improved quality of life and provided a better future for citizens (Guzman & Oviedo, 2018). It is also noted that BRT offers substantial benefits to low-income groups, in terms of travel time and cost savings, safety and health benefits as well as access enhancement (Venter et al., 2017). However, it is noted that with the potential of protecting the interest of the poor, it can also lead to their displacement through gentrification as a result of an increase in land values along BRT corridors (Venter et al., 2017).

Again the principal function of BRT as public transport is to provide access to opportunities to all members of society particularly those with limited mobility options (Manaugh, 2010). This brings in and makes equity in public transport paramount. Thus equity in BRT is all about giving the disadvantaged populations the opportunity to have higher accessibility and more mobility options, regardless of their ability to pay. Equity in BRT is to ensure that access is provided to job locations for those with limited mobility choices, which is usually amongst the poor (Sanchez, Shen, & Peng, 2004). Studies have affirmed that there is a correlation between transit use and income status. In this regard, it is evidenced that most often municipalities attempt to service low-density residential growth at the urban peripheries while the inner-city transit dependent on households are not given the same priority (Manaugh, 2010).

Better still, policymakers have asserted that an increase in BRT is capable of positively affecting the employment status of people, especially the low-income ones. It is assumed that BRT can effectively link the unemployed and car-less population with appropriate job locations (Cervero et al., 2002). It is observed that the current patterns of development of most countries in the Global South result into spatial disadvantaged for low-income workers, which BRT has the potential to overcome employment accessibility and mobility problems. However, studies in Atlanta-Georgia and Portland-Oregon proved this relation between public transport like BRT with employment locations but in the city of Dale County- Alabama proved contrary to this analogue (Sanchez et al., 2004).

In this research, the vertical equity based on accessibility is evaluated to understand the project benefits of BRT (the proposed DART system) to least advantaged residents over most advantaged ones since in most cases the least advantaged residents are considered to be more public transit dependants than most advantaged ones. Furthermore, as explain by Marsh and Schilling (1994) the fundamental process of evaluating equity involves a comparison of impact of an action among the individuals who are defined on basis of e.g. income, race, gender etc. In this regard, this research evaluates the job accessibility distribution that would results from the DART system implementation across the socio-economic groups who defined by their deprivation level.

2.4.3. Measures of Equity based on accessibility

To measure or evaluate equity based on accessibility depends on first, the selection of appropriate accessibility measure to meet the goal under study and second, identification of indicators and their level of aggregation (e.g., income levels at individual, the household or census tract) to measure the accessibility distribution across the population groups (Wee & Geurs, 2011). Equity evaluation in public transport planning can be assessed based on accessibility changes or accessibility levels across the population groups

(Ortega, Monzón, & López, 2013). Several mathematical approaches exist and are applied by academic researchers and transport planners to assess equity in transport planning policies. According to Lemans (2016); Jang, An, Yi, and Lee (2017); Rahman and Neema (2015); Tsou, Hung, and Chang (2005); Cao, Liu, Wang, and Li (2013) these approaches are; descriptive statistics (i.e. range, variance and coefficient of variation), Theil index, Palma ratio, Lorenz curve and Gini coefficient, Spatial autocorrelation, Integrated equity index, Spatial auto-regression etc. From these mathematical approaches, low values depict close to perfect equity (equal distribution of accessibility impacts) while high values depict close to inequity. As described by Ortega et al. (2013), there is no common mathematical approach to assess equity in transport planning. But according to Delbosc and Currie (2011), the easy approach to interpret is the Gini coefficient using the Lorenz curve¹. The approach provides a single value (Gini coefficient/index) that can be visualized on a curve and used to judge the degree level of equity based on accessibility distribution for overall/across population groups. The curve represents the cumulative distribution of accessibility across the population (Lorenz, 1905; Lucas et al., 2015). The Gini coefficient is a mathematical value that represents the degree/level of inequality, and that can provide information about equity (Delbosc & Currie, 2011; Lucas et al., 2015). In the Lorenz curve (Figure 2-1), the Gini coefficient is the ratio of the areas between the equal distribution line and Lorenz curve, and the total area under the equal distribution line. The value of the Gini coefficient is between zero and one. The lower the value, the more equitable of accessibility distribution, and the higher value indicates unequal distribution. The Gini coefficient from the Lorenz curve can be approximated using equation 1.

 $Gini \ coefficient = \frac{Area \ of \ A}{Area \ of \ A + Area \ of \ B} \ (i)$



Figure 2-1: Lorenz curve

¹ Lorenz curve is well known in economies and applied to represent the cumulative distribution of wealth/income across the population. The curve also can be used to any quantity that can be cumulated across the population.

2.5. Transport System and GIS network analysis

As defined by Tolley and Turton (1995), the transport system is "the assemblage of components associated with specific means of transport." Such components of the transport system are network, routes, terminals, and nodes. The network is the framework within a transport system composed of routes. The route is a link between two nodes/terminals while nodes/terminals are starting or ending points of the routes and usually act as transferring points where people can switch between the transport modes. Also according to Zuidgeest, Brussel, Arora, Bhamidipati, et al. (2009), the transport system is the combination of subsystems of transport whereby each subsystem is representing a specific transport mode and is composed by transport components. From this perspective, the transport system is considered as multimodality system in nature as it involves the connection of more than one transport mode at the terminals/nodes where people/goods can make transfers.

Nowadays due to the availability of transport data, GIS network analysis provides a suitable platform that has the capabilities to model, analyse, visualize and retrieve such data using geoprocessing tools (Mandloi & Thill, 2010). It uses a graph theory approach to store the transport system information in the spatial database as it exists on the earth's surface (Esri UK & Ireland., 2018). The transport system in GIS network analyst is represented by a set of nodes/vertices and links/edges that are interconnected and topologically related. The nodes and links together are used to store travel impedances (e.g., speed, travel time, waiting times at stops, travel fare) that represent the constraints/weight of moving from one location to another using specific transport mode.

Additionally, in GIS network analysis there are different concepts (such as 3D, dynamic segmentation, arc node data model, hierarchical, etc.) for modeling multimodal transport system (Mahrous, 2012). The 3D concept (Figure 2-2) is the most suitable one as it provides a good representation of the transport system with large subsystems without overlapping the components (Musliman, Rahman, & Coors, 2008). The concept physically uses the idea of separating the subsystems (e.g., pedestrian paths and Bus routes) by elevations and connecting one subsystem to another using hypothetical links (dummy) and false stops that carry impedances of transfers from one subsystem to another.



Figure 2-2: Examples of 3D network representation in the GIS environment

3. STUDY AREA AND RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

This chapter presents two main sections; the first section describes the city of Dar es Salaam where the study was carried out and the second section describes the whole methodological approaches deployed to achieve the main objective of this research.

3.1. Study area

This section provides the descriptions of Dar es Salaam city by focusing on its population growth trends, the spatial structure of the city and issues of public transport. Also, the section gives a brief explanation on which part of the city the research was conducted for accessibility analysis.

3.1.1. General description

Geographically, Dar es Salaam city lies along the coastal Indian Ocean at latitude 6.8°S and longitude 39.3°E. Dar es Salaam city is one of the fastest growing cities in Sub Saharan Africa (Clos, 2016), and the largest commercial city of Tanzania. It is a home of the country's core industry and business and contributes 17% of the national gross domestic product (United Republic of Tanzania, 2017). Dar es Salaam is expected to become a megacity before 2030 (Hill, Hühner, Kreibich, & Lindner, 2014).

Administratively, Dar es Salaam city is among the 30 regions of Tanzania. It covers 1,631 square kilometers which is about 0.2% of the total area of Tanzania. The city has five municipalities; Ubungo, Kinondoni, Temeke, Kigamboni and Ilala (Figure 3-1) which subdivided into ten constituencies and 90 wards. According to the population census of 2012, the city has 4.4 million inhabitants (i.e., 10% of the total Tanzania population) and currently it is estimated to have 5 million inhabitants (National Bureau of Statistics Tanzania, 2013). As depicted from Figure 3-2, the population growth of Dar es Salaam is highly increasing, but the spurt in urbanization occurred since 1978. This resulted the city in 2012 to have a population density of 3133 inhabitants/km² and sprawling along the major traffic corridors (Oneko, 2017). Like many other Global cities, also rapid population growth has given rise to the city with uneven service infrastructure provision and poor transport connections (Kiunsi, 2013).

Despite the peripheral settlement expansion, spatially the city has a monocentric structure whereby many important facilities are still located in the Central Business District (CBD) (Kiunsi, 2013). The CBD is connected with suburb by five major roads which form the backbone of the city road network. This has led traffic congestion particularly in work-day peak hours (6:30am-9: 30 am and 04:00pm-7:30 am) as many commuters use private and public transport to access/out access facilities (Kiunsi, 2013). To reduce such traffic congestion and improving mobility and accessibility, the government of Tanzania since 2016 has decided to implement the BRT system. According to DART (2014) and DSM City Council (2008), the BRT system in Dar es Salaam would help to reduce traffic congestion and commuting time particularly to and from the transit dependent communities.

In this research, the area of 20km from CBD has been selected to be the case study area (Figure 3-1). It is the urban zone of Dar es Salaam city and approximately covers 524 square kilometers. Administratively the area is comprised of 73 wards² and is where all phases of the proposed DART system will cover by 2035. The area is densely populated (Figure 3-3) and characterized by different socio-economic groups. The area has connected with public bus transport routes to serve public transit dependents (Mkalawa & Haixiao, 2014). Also within this area, at least enough spatial data for transport networks, job locations, and sociodemography were available for accomplishing this thesis.

² Wards are fourth-level of administrative divisions in Dar es Salaam



Figure 3-1: Location of the study area.



Figure 3-2: Absolute and relative population growth of Dar es Salaam. Note: Population of 2018 is an extrapolation done by UN-Habitat Source: (Sheuya, 2010; National Bureau of Statistics Tanzania, 2013)



Figure 3-3: Population density by wards of Dar es Salaam 2012. Source: (National Bureau of Statistics Tanzania, 2013 and modified by author)

3.1.2. A general overview of the current public transport system in Dar es Salaam

Dar es Salaam, the most populated and major commercial city in Tanzania, has very developed transport networks that connect with other major cities in neighbouring countries such as Nairobi (Kenya), Kampala (Uganda), Kigali (Rwanda), and Lusaka (Zambia) (Dar es Salaam City Council, 2008). For public transport, Dar es Salaam city has a commuter railway, ferry, and bus transport that connect different parts of the city. It is the main mode of transport system having a high share of users however traditionally not of high quality (World Bank, 2017).

Commuter railway was introduced in 2012 and operates along TAZARA and TRL rail lines (Figure 7). The service is provided in working days at peak hours (i.e., 6:00- 10:20 am and 15:55- 22:15 pm) between Posta, Ubungo, Pugu, Tazara and Mwakanga bus stops (Dar es Salaam City Council, 2018a). Now there is the construction standard gauge rail that will provide service to the commuters in neighbouring towns.

The ferry service is found at Kivukoni area. It provides accessibility of commuters to Kigamboni suburban area. The service is available for 24 hours. Kigamboni area also can be accessed through the Kigamboni Bridge that was constructed in 2016.

According to DSM City Council (2008) and DART (2014), public bus transport approximately covers 25% of road networks. It operates under mixed traffic with private vehicles and motorcycles except for the BRT buses that operate in segregated lanes (Appendix 1). The public bus service is found mainly along the trunk and main collector roads (Figure 3-4). Currently, the public bus transport service is provided by paratransit minibuses (called daladala) and BRT buses. Most paratransit minibuses are owned by private people while

BRT buses are under government agency called DART/UDA-RT (Dar es Salaam City Council, 2018b). The BRT service was proposed by the government of Tanzania in collaboration with Word bank with the significant aim of reducing commuting time in the city. The BRT service was launched in 2016 and was planned to have six phases (140.1 km of corridors) by 2035. Currently, only BRT phase-1 is under operation as a pilot project while phase-2 and 3 are under evaluation stage to start implementation by 2020. BRT phase-1 has 21 km trunk corridor, 27 bus stops and 5 terminals (Appendix 2). The service operation time for BRT is 5:00 am to 12:00 am (midnight) while for daladala is nearly 24 hours even though the regulation allowed them to operate from 5:00 am to 23:00 (Dar es Salaam City Council, 2018a).

Rules and regulations for insisting order and safety in public transport are set by SUMATRA (i.e., Government authority for managing surface and marine transport). SUMATRA issues annual licenses to public transport operators in particular routes and instructs the amount of fare per routes. Also, the authority has the power to ensure a competitive quality of transport service in Dar es Salaam.

Presently public transport in Dar es Salaam faces issues such as crowded buses and ferry due high demand that not met by service supply, unscheduled service and off information about the service, small coverage of the service particularly in residential areas, insufficient operation that causes traffic jams at peak hours, traffic accidents especially at mix lanes with motorcycle and pedestrian crossing, and flooding of some roads during heavy rain (Dar es Salaam City Council, 2018a).



Figure 3-4: Dar es Salaam public transport corridors. Source: (Dar es Salaam City Council, 2018b)

3.2. Research methodology

This section describes the design and applicable methods for the research to achieve the main objective. It explains datasets, sources, and their preparation before used in the analysis, and also the analysis methods applied for accomplishing specific objectives.

3.2.1. Research approach

In this research, the main research approach employed is a quantitative methodology (i.e., spatial and statistical methods). The whole methodology has been divided into three blocks (Figure 3-5). The first block is about dataset description, preparation, and unit of analysis, the second block; DART system/network modeling in a GIS environment for estimating accessibility and the third block; estimation of accessibility and equity evaluation. In the first objective spatial analysis basically on GIS-network analysis was employed to compute the accessibility of socio-economic groups to job locations via the proposed DART system/network. In the second objective, the equity evaluation was operationalized using a statistical method to measure the degree of variation in job accessibility distribution across socio-economic groups. In third objective spatial analysis were applied to explore the potential areas where the DART system could be extended to enhance equity based on accessibility for residential areas that are far away from the proposed DART system.



Figure 3-5: Methodological Workflow

3.2.2. Datasets and sources

This sub-section describes all secondary datasets (spatial and non-spatial) which were acquired during the field fieldwork. The datasets acquired and used for analysis are transportation data (i.e., road networks of Dar es Salaam, public transport network for DART system), Job location/workplace data and Socio-economic data (i.e., population counts administrative wards and multidimensional-poverty-index) (Table 3-1)

No.	Dataset	Format	Acquisition date	Source
Trans	portation data			
i.	Dar es Salaam road networks	Vector	2018	OSM
		(shp)		(https://www.openstreetmap.org)
 11.	Trunk corridors of the DART system	Vector	2017	DART and SUMATRA offices
		(shp)		
 111.	Proposed and Existing BRT stops and	Vector	2017	DART and SUMATRA offices
	terminals	(shp)		
iv.	Existing and proposed DART routes	Vector	2017	DART office
		(shp)		
v.	DART's attribute variables (e.g.	Excel	2017	DART office
	the speed of the bus, Travel fare per route,			
	Waiting and Egress times at bus stops or			
	terminals)			
Job lo	cation data			
i.	Job locations (financial institutions, retail	Vector	2015	TRA
	businesses, academic institutions,	(shp)		
	industries, public and private offices)			
Socio	economic data			
i.	Administrative boundaries of wards	Vector	2012	TNBS
		(shp)		
ii.	Population count	Raster	2015	Worldpop
				(http://www.worldpop.org.uk)
 111.	Multidimensional-poverty-index	Raster	2013	Worldpop
				(http://www.worldpop.org.uk)
iv.	Building footprint	Vector	2018	OSM
		(shp)		(https://www.openstreetmap.org)

Table 3-1: Summary of datasets

Source: Author, 2018

3.2.2.1. Transportation data

Dataset of road networks for Dar es Salaam was downloaded from the Open-StreetMap (OSM) website in October 2018. The data included the classification of roads, size, road condition, the name of roads and road restrictions (i.e., one way or not). This data is prepared and updated by Ramani Huria organization through digitizing from UAV-images³. The data is disseminated free online with the purposes of sharing the geo-transport network data of Dar es Salaam globally. Routes for commuter rails and paratransit-minibuses were also downloaded from Open-StreetMap (OSM) in October 2018.

Datasets of public bus transport network for the DART system were obtained from DART and SUMATRA offices during the fieldwork in October 2018. The data included the existing and proposed BRT corridors, routes/service lines and bus stops in 2035 and operational attributes for the service. The only bus stops data were acquired in shapefile format while other data in documentary sources which were prepared during the revision of Dar es Salaam transport master plan in 2017. The data about existing and proposed DART

³ UAV-images are aerial images captured by an unmanned aerial vehicle/drone

routes by phases were extracted from documents through on-screen manual digitizing⁴ using Arc GIS software in order to have detailed geolocation information (Figure 3-6). All stops and digitized routes were geolocated with Z-coordinate values so as later in GIS modeling to have separate connectivity between the road network and the DART network. Also, the digitized routes were attributed with operational DART values such as speed of buses and waiting time at stops that were obtained from provided documents. These attribute values were also verified by observing the operation of DART phase-1(which also applies to other proposed phases) while in fieldwork and find out no much differences of values (Table 3-2). The whole steps for preparing DART routes for analysis purpose see Appendix 3



Figure 3-6: Existing (phase-1) and other phases of the proposed DART system

Table 3-2: DART attribute variables for phase-1

	Variable	From the documents	Field observation
i.	Average bus speed	23km/h at peak hours in working days.	25km/h at peak hours in working days. (was measured by taking a route from Kimara stop to Kivukoni stop and recording the time taken and length of the route using google map app. The length of the route was divided by time).
 11.	• Waiting time at the bus stop/operation frequency,	3-minutes interval at peak hours in working days when the operation rate is 100%.	3-5 minute interval at peak hours in working days when the operation rate is 100%
	• Egress time/ Average stopping time at the bus stop	1-minute	1.5-minute
Source	e: Author, 2018		

⁴ With the help of downloaded road networks and drawings of DART system from documents, the routes were traced in separate shapefile.

3.2.2.2. Job location data

Job locations dataset was acquired from Tanzania Revenue Authority (TRA) office. The dataset was provided as feature points in shapefile format and included 40,000 formal/registered private and public establishments (Figure 3-7). Due to the confidentiality of the data, the provided data includes only the locational address of establishments and not the number of employment available in each establishment. The dataset was prepared since in 2015 and still under preparation (before the dataset was not in spatial format). Up to the date of data acquisition, the provided job dataset includes most information not more than 20 km from CBD. Also, informal job data was intended to be obtained and used for analysis. But due unavailability of such data, only formal job locations were used for analysis.



Figure 3-7: Location of job centers/workplaces

3.2.2.3. Socio-economic data

Datasets of administrative ward boundaries were acquired from the office of Tanzania National Bureau of Statistics (TNBS). The data was prepared from population census data of Dar es Salaam 2012. Data was provided in shapefile format.

Before the fieldwork, the average income per capita/income disparity data was proposed to be used for categorizing residential population in order to evaluate equity in transport based on accessibility. Unfortunately, the data was missing, and substituted by multidimensional-poverty-index data for Tanzania (Figure 3-8) which was downloaded from Worldpop-website (*http://www.worldpop.org.uk*). Multidimensional-poverty-index (MPI) data was in raster format of a 1x1km spatial unit and was prepared in 2013 by University of Southampton/Oxford using Demographic and Health Survey geo-data of Tanzania collected at household levels in 2012. The data estimates the level of national poverty (i.e., the proportion of people per grid square living in poverty) across every location in a country. The data was prepared with the aim of

mapping and monitoring national poverty using remoting sensing and geospatial techniques. This data is better than income per capita only for understanding the level of residential disparity as it measures poverty beyond the income-based lists. However, according to Albert and Gaspar (2015), MPI has a strong correlation with income poverty rates with few outliers. MPI is representing health, educational achievement and living standard dimensions that constitute people's experience deprivation (Oxford University, 2018).

Building footprints data was downloaded from the Open-StreetMap (OSM) website in October 2018. This data is prepared and updated by Ramani Huria organization in Dar es Salaam. The data includes the uses of buildings, i.e., residential, commercial-residential, industries, etc. The data was downloaded with the aim of estimating population number at residential locations by combing it with population data which was also downloaded from Worldpop-website. The population data from Worldpop (in raster format of 100x100m) has estimated population 2015 for whole city Dar es Salaam.



Figure 3-8: Multidimensional-poverty-index of Dar es Salaam (high value represents a high poverty level, and low value represents low poverty)

3.2.3. Dataset preparation and Unit of analysis

This sub-section describes how the three datasets were prepared for analysis. As this research involves the integration of different datasets, the issues of data integration in GIS was examined since it facilitates further analysis of the data.

3.2.3.1. Transportation data

The road networks data was topologically validated (i.e., checking the consistency of the features). This is because sometimes data from these open sources have potential errors due to voluntary collection and need for users to check, test and correct it before using (Melbye, Møller-Jensen, Andreasen, Kiduanga, & Busck,

2015). Therefore, with the aid of topological rules, all road features which were not/improperly connected were identified (Figure 3-9) and corrected through on-screen manual digitizing so as to have the proper connectivity of roads during network analysis. Another error which was identified from road networks data is some of the road lines at junctions were not digitized as segment lines (i.e. road junctions were digitized as overpass or underpass which is not the real case on the ground) (Figure 3-10). This can affect the results as instead of taking the shortest routes during accessibility analysis; the network will display an error message of no route can be found. The problem was fixed by using the "feature to line tool" in Arc-GIS software and broke every line segment at junctions. Furthermore, for the analysis purpose of this research, the road lines were also broken at each bus stop to provide a connection with DART service lines through connectors. Datasets from OSM usually have a coordinate system (WGS 1984) different from the ones used in many local areas. So in order to ensure the downloaded road networks dataset spatially match with other acquired spatial data from the fieldwork, the data was transformed from datum WGS 1984 to Arc 1960⁵ which is used in Dar es Salaam. Finally, the road network dataset was geolocated with Z-coordinate values so as to have separate connectivity from the DART network.





Figure 3-9: Example of identified road junction at "X" (using ArcGIS software) not connected/undershoot (i), and its reality on the ground (ii)

(11)



(i)

Figure 3-10 Example of identified road junction at "A" (using ArcGIS software) not digitized as segment lines (i), and its reality on the ground (ii)

(ii)

3.2.3.2. Socio-economic data

The study area was disaggregated into hexagonal grids of 250 by 250 meters as the unit of analysis in order to model the public transport accessibility via the DART system in high resolution without compromising computational tractability. However this technique slow the computation speed during the modeling. The 250 by 250 meters hexagons were used because in the study area the population density is relatively high and road network information are a lot available. The 250 by 250 meters hexagons would then increase the

⁵ In this research all maps were prepared using Arc_1960 datum together with the projection of _UTM_Zone_37S

quality of accessibility results instead of using administrative wards (whose relative size is large) as the units of analysis. Additionally, the hexagonal grids were used instead of rectangular grids since they minimize sampling bias from edge effect and are suitable for analyzing spatial phenomena in which nearest neighbourhood and connectivity are important (Birch, Oom, & Beecham, 2007).

Then the hexagons were populated with population counts data by adopting the approach of Martin (2015) whereby population counts at administrative units are distributed at building levels instead of using convention approach of population density. The approach of Martin (2015) assumes uneven population distribution within the defined administrative units because in reality population is more or less spatially clustered. Although the approach of Martin (2015) in some way appropriate but is limited to the availability of building footprints data, and it has complicated computation. The downloaded population data from Worldpop was used to populate the hexagons. However, the data has a challenge of having 100x100m resolution. So to combine it with residential building footprints could lead buildings within 100x100m to have the same population count and hence lead to overestimation of the population. By using the administrative ward boundaries of 2012 and population data from Worldpop, the population of 2015⁶ at ward levels were firstly estimated by extracting the values from this population data. The estimated population counts were then disaggregated into hexagons using building footprints. Also, Figure 3-11 demonstrates how the steps of estimating population were operationalized in Arc GIS.

Step 1. Extract raster/pixel values (i.e., population 2015) from population data by wards

Step 2. Extract building footprints used for residential and commercial-residential purposes. The assumption is that the urban population is only concentrated in these buildings

Step 3. Calculate the roof area of each extracted building,

Step 4. Calculate the total roof area of extracted buildings in each ward,

Step 5. Calculate the proportional of the roof area of each extracted building in each ward

Step 6. Calculate the estimated population in each extracted building by multiplying the proportional of the roof area with the estimated population of each ward,

Step 7. Assign the estimated population of each building to each hexagonal grid, and the result is the estimated population for each hexagonal grid.

⁶ Population counts 2015 was used so as to have temporal matching with job location data



Figure 3-11: Estimation of population in hexagons using Arc-GIS software

Furthermore, the population of each hexagon was categorized/stratified using MPI data by extracting the values from this data into hexagons (Figure 3-12). Different statistical methods are available that can be used to categorize values of socio-economic data such as MPI (J. Martínez, 2005). In this research, a natural break points method was used to categorize the population because it uses a particular break between natural groupings of the data values. The MPI values were classified into four groups and resulted in four socio-economic groups/strata: least deprived, fairly deprived, highly deprived and most deprived. The final hexagons in the study area had an estimated population and socio-economic categorizations based on poverty level. But due to the spatial unit of MPI data to be large (1x1km), the fore mentioned socio-economic groups might have ecological fallacy (i.e., might not represent the real spatial distribution of these groups) in some part of the city specifically in the periphery where there is some mixing of poor and rich people. Figure 3-13 presents the results of socio-economic categorization in hexagons.


Figure 3-12: Extraction of MPI values to hexagons using Arc-GIS software

Figure 3-14 presents the spatial distribution of socio-economic strata in the study area based on the stratified MPI data as described above. As seen on the figure, the least deprived residential areas (38% out of 42%) are mainly located not far than 10 km from the CBD particularly nearby the trunk roads where most of the economic activities are agglomerated. Only 41% out 42% of most deprived residential areas are located far than 10 km from the CBD where the proposed DART corridors are ending.

3.2.3.3. Job location data

The provided job location data was also structured into hexagonal grids of 250 by 250 meter. This was done in order to make the computation of accessibility to job locations easy. Otherwise, it would calculate over 20 million routes from origins (residential hexagons) to job location points that would take too much time. Each hexagon contains the total number of job centres. Figure 3-13 demonstrates how the job locations were aggregated in hexagons using Arc GIS software, and Figure 3-15 presents the results of job locations in hexagons.



Figure 3-13: Aggregation of job location data into hexagons using Arc-GIS software

Figure 3-15 shows the numbers and spatial distribution of formal job locations (in hexagon units) in the study area. From the figure, it is revealed that the high number of job locations are found within 10km from CBD whereby high agglomeration is along the Pugu and Morogoro roads. This zone of 10km from CBD has diversely of private and public activities. The 5km zone from CBD is highly occupied with commercial and business offices while 5-10km zone is occupied with mixed activities such as light industries, high academic institutions, retail business, etc. Also from the figure, it is evident that most areas out 10 km zone there is a fewer number of formal jobs. This is mainly due to the high development of scattered informal settlements expanding toward suburbs.



Figure 3-14 Spatial distribution of socio-economic groups stratified by using MPI Note: White areas within the study area represent areas with no residential areas



Figure 3-15: Spatial distribution of job locations aggregated in hexagon polygons

3.2.4. DART system modelling in a GIS environment

The proposed DART system was modelled in a GIS environment by considering the commuter trips from residential locations to job locations through the proposed DART system/network. The great attention was given on providing links between service lines/routes of DART system and road network (that used for the walking mode in this research) at bus stops so as to estimate the travel time properly.

Usually commuter trip by public transport is slightly complicated as it occurs between origins (residential locations) and destinations (workplaces) with one or more transport modes. When a trip occurs with more than one mode, it referred to as the multimodal trip, and it involves transfers between modes at bus stops. Figure 3-16 demonstrates the simplified trip along the DART system. The commuter/resident leaves home (origin) to the bus stop by walking⁷. At the bus stop s/he has to wait for the bus, boarding and travel to another bus stop. Then there are three options at the next bus stop either to; continue with the trip in case the bus stops for alighting and boarding of passengers, or descend from the bus and walk to the destination, or take another bus (transfer); waiting for it and traveling in a bus before reaching the final destination.



Figure 3-16: Trip along the DART system

Two approaches are available to model the transport network in a GIS environment; modelling by geometry and modeling by attributes. Modeling by geometry is the common approach available in GIS software and has a strong capability for making transport analysis as it allows the use of multiple layers (Miller & Shaw, 2001). In order to model trips of residents as described above via a DART system, the 3D-multimodal network/geometry structure was developed in ArcGIS software (Figure 3-17). Using the connectivity rules in ArcGIS, two levels of connectivity network layers were made. The one level with road network serves as the pedestrian walking from the hexagon centroid of residential locations to the near bus stop or from bus stop to near hexagon centroid of job locations, and the second level with DART service lines to serve as travel between stops. The two levels were linked at bus stops to serve as an entrance/exist between the two travel modes. Two connectivity levels were made specifically to allow separation between walking mode and DART system otherwise all road network/DART service lines junctions would serve as on/off points between DART system and the roads which do not represent the reality.

In order to estimate total travel time between residential and job locations, walking time was assigned in the attribute table of road network (length of a road divides by walking speed), while time in a bus was assigned in the attribute table of DART service lines (length of DART line between two consecutive stops divides by bus speed). But for the case of the waiting time and egress time as travel impedances occur between the connectivity modes (i.e., walking mode and travel mode along DART system), the dummy links⁸ were used to assign such impedances. Also, false bus stops⁹ were used to provide connections between dummy links

⁷ Some cases commuters use other transport modes to reach at the bus stops but this was not applicable in this research because of data unavailability.

⁸ Dummy links are hypothetical line segments in GIS-multimodal network environment that provide connection between two different transport modes.

⁹ False bus stops are hypothetical bus stops in GIS-multimodal network environment that split bus service lines corresponding to real bus stops.

and DART service lines. The preparation process of both false bus stops and dummy links are shown in Appendix 4.



Figure 3-17: A 3D-multimodal network of the DART system



Figure 3-18: Network representation between road and DART networks in a GIS environment

From Figure 3-18, the dummy links provide the connections between roads and the service lines of the DART system. Dummy links have assigned the directions (FT and TF). The directions from the road to the DART service lines were assigned with waiting time (3 minutes) while from service lines to the road is only egress time assigned (1 minute). Both connectivity rule and dummy links were used to represent and assign waiting and egress times commuters incur while boarding to service lines of DART.

Therefore, the developed GIS-multimodal network for the DART system in this research can compute the total travel time between the origin (hexagon centroid of residential locations) and destination (hexagon centroid of job locations). The total travel time was; the walking time to the nearest bus stop plus waiting time, travel time in a bus to another stop close to the job location and finally plus the egress time and the walking time to job location. In case the shortest route between the residential hexagon and job hexagon is just by walking, only walking time was computed and stored in the attribute table during accessibility computation. The estimation of accessibility to job locations was done basing on proposed operational characteristics of DART system at peak hours (i.e., bus speed =23 km/hr, waiting time = 3 minutes and egress time = 1 minute). Finally, the connectivity table between road and DART network datasets in ArcGIS

software is shown Appendix 5, and all the attribute variables used to compute accessibility in this research are shown in Appendix 6.

3.2.5. Methods for estimating accessibility and evaluating equity

The applied methods for estimating accessibility and evaluating equity have been divided into four parts as described below.

The **first** part involves the computation of the service area of the proposed DART system so as to determine the population size that is nearby by the DART system. This was computed on the assumption that the BRT system in most cases is considered to have high transit-benefits for those who are close to it (Jiang, Zegras, & Mehndiratta, 2012). The proximity of population to the proposed DART system was calculated around the bus stops/terminals of DART system since the stops/terminal are the actual locations where commuters can access the transport bus service (Foda & Osman, 2010). Using the road network, as a proxy for the existence of sidewalks along it, a walking speed of 4.3 km/h (Rastogi, Thaniarasu, & Chandra, 2011) was considered as the common and monetary-less transport mode for residents to access the public transport service particularly in developing cities (Wu & Hine, 2003). Also walking was selected because many commuters in Dar es Salaam access the bus stops by walking except for those from remote areas where road connection is still poor (DSM City Council, 2018; Chengula, & Kombe, 2017).

A network GIS-based service area was performed to compute service coverage at each proposed DART stop/terminal using pedestrian access time/walking time as an impedance to access the public bus transport service. In this research, the access time of 20 minutes was used as a maximum time for the pedestrian to access the DART stops. This time was selected as the acceptable walking time for an individual to access the public bus service particularly in cities which are not well spatially compacted such as Dar es Salaam (Halden, Jones, & Wixey 2005; Armstrong-wright & Thiriez, 1987). However, there is no consensus in the literature regarding a uniform standard for accessing the BRT stop/bus stop by walking (Jiang et al., 2012). Cervero, Murakami, and Miller, (2010) and Canepa (2007) use maximum catchment area of 400 metres (equivalent 5 minutes walking) up to 900 metres (equivalent 15minutes walking) to assess the access to BRT stops. In this research 5, 10, 15, 20 minutes ware used to check if there are variations to the number of socio-economic groups who can have access to the proposed DART system. Figure 3.19 illustrates the generalized flowchart of the proximity of socio-economic groups by walking to the proposed DART system.



Figure 3-19: Flowchart for the proximity of socio-economic groups to the DART system

The purpose of the DART system as public transport is to serve both origins and destinations, so in the **second** part of the analysis, the accessibility was computed between residential locations that are within acceptable walking time to bus stops and job locations. By using OD Cost Matrix in Arc-GIS¹⁰ based on road networks and the proposed routes of DART system, accessibility of residential locations (as origins) to job locations (as destinations) was estimated using cumulative opportunity measure of accessibility. The advantages and limitations of this measure have been described in subsection 2.1.3. The total travel time was considered as impedances/cost frictions for residents to access the job locations via the DART system. Transit fare also can be considered but in this research, it was not the case because the proposed DART system has planned to use flat fare per trip, so it has no impact on estimating accessibility. The maximum time to access job locations was considered 60 minutes as it is shown by DSM City Council (2018) that the average commuting time for many commuters in Dar es Salaam is not more than an hour. Nevertheless, 30, 45 and 60 minutes travel times were used to see the variation of the number of job locations accessed by each residential groups. Figure 3-20 illustrates the generalized flowchart of accessibility of residential locations.

In this research, the conventional equation of cumulative accessibility measure (Koenig, 1980) was used to estimate the number of accessible job locations across the socio-economic groups (i.e., mean number of accessible job locations from each residential hexagon) using question 4. Specifically, the calculation of accessibility to job locations via the DART system was considered at morning peak hours when the operation rate is 100%.

$$A_i = \sum O_j \cdot f(C) \dots (4)$$

$$f(C_{ij}) = \{ 1 \text{ if } C \leq \text{threshold travel time} \}$$

¹⁰ O-D cost matrix in Arc-GIS was performed to estimate travel cost matrix by creating pairs from each residential hexagon to various job location hexagons. Open trip planner software can also be used to perform the same function if the transport data (such as GTFS,) of particular location are available online.

0 if C >threshold travel time

Where A_i is the accessibility level at residential location i, O is the number of formal job locations at j, f(C) is the impedance function from i to j using public transport mode, t is the total travel time between i and j (i.e. pedestrian access time from i to the bus stop, waiting time, travel time in a bus, transfer time, egress time and walking time to j).



Figure 3-20: Flowchart for accessibility of socio-economic groups to job locations

In the **third** part, statistical analysis using Excel and SPSS software were employed to display tables, graphs as well as to determine the degrees of inequity (using the Gini-indices) for each socio-economic group. The results of accessibility distribution for all socio-economic groups were used as inputs. In this research, the Lorenz curves were constructed using the cumulative percentage of the population (x-axis) ranked by the deprivation levels, and cumulative percentage of accessible job locations at different travel time (y-axis). The degree¹¹ of equity for each curve was computed as a ratio between; the area under equitable distribution line (45^o line) and Lorenz curve, and the total area under equitable distribution line (as described in subsection 2.2.2). The Gini coefficients/indices were used to explain the equity levels of job accessibility distribution across different socio-economic groups.

¹¹ https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0Vv930-sDTI

In the **fourth** part on exploring the potential residential areas where the proposed DART network could be extended to enhance equity based on accessibility to job locations, assumptions were made based on potential transit demand. In the transport planning field, different approaches are available to estimate the potential demand for transit service in the region. In those approaches data for trip generation, trip distribution, model split, and traffic assignment are considered to understand unmet transit demand. But in this research due to unavailability of such data from the study area, the proximity count approach (De Jong & Van Eck, 1996) was used to explore possible residential areas (unserved ones within acceptable walking time) where the proposed system of DART might be extended to enhance equity based on accessibility to job locations. Assumptions were made by considering residential areas having at least population size of 7000 inhabitants (Metropolitan Council, 2018) and having high transit demand; in this case are highly and most deprived residential areas. These assumptions are in line with the proposed DART development goal for providing transit movement in densely populated areas characterized by deprived society (United Republic of Tanzania, 2007). So to fit such assumptions in computation, OD Cost Matrix was performed between unserved residential hexagons at cut-off time of 20 minutes as an acceptable walking time to the DART stops (Figure 4.2). The OD line results were joined with residential hexagons, and the population was summarized per each hexagon to obtain the cumulative population per hexagon. Residential hexagons that have the cumulative population equal to or more than 7000 particularly in most and high deprived areas were identified as potential areas. Finally, the results were overlayered with trunk and collector roads to identify roads that can be added in the proposed DART system so as to reduce inequities based on accessibility. Figure 3.21 illustrates the generalized flowchart for identifying roads for DART system extension.



Figure 3-21: The flow chart for identifying roads for DART system extension

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This chapter presents four main sections; the first three sections provide analysis results based on accessibility estimation, equity evaluation, and potential residential areas for DART system extension respectively. The last section provides a discussion on the results.

4.1. Accessibility estimation

In this section, the service area of the proposed DART system and population served are presented. Also, the section presents the estimation of accessibility to job locations for socio-economic groups who are within 20 minutes walking time to the proposed DART system.

4.1.1. Service area and population served by the proposed DART system

The service area of the proposed DART system was computed in order to measure the ease at which DART service can be reached from different residential locations by walking. Based on network-GIS service area, the area around each DART stop and population within walking time (0-5, 5-10, 10-15, and 15-20 minutes) to the stops were determined. These provide an estimate on a number of people that can access to stops and residential areas that would be served by the proposed DART system. As illustrated in Figure 4-1, a large residential area is covered by 20 minutes' walk to the proposed DART stops especially in areas around 10km from the CBD, and somewhat limited along the major trunk roads for those areas far from the CBD or areas situated in the periphery. In the Southern-East area (Tungi, Vijibweni, Kibada, Mjimwema) almost all residential areas are not served by the proposed DART system, except only a small area close to the Kivukoni terminal. This is because there are no nearest DART stops within 20 minutes' walk apart from a small area of Kigamboni which has a connection to Kivukoni terminal through ferry. Also, Figure 4-1 shows that within 10km from the CBD large residential areas are served not more than 15 minutes' walk to the stops. This is due to the good connectivity of the road and proposed DART networks. In summary, 31% of the residential areas (out of the total residential area in the study area) are within 20 minutes walking distance to the proposed DART system and accommodates around 60% of the total population in the study area (Table 4-1).

Based on proximity by walking to the proposed DART system as demonstrated in Figure 4-2, there is a gradual increase in the service area and population served up to 15 minutes (i.e., equivalent to 1km walking distance). But between 15 - 20 minutes walking time, there is a significant increase in the service area and population served. This implies that most of the served population within 20 minutes' walk is concentrated somewhat far from the DART corridors because of existing other land use development close to main roads. Also, the results from Figure 4-2 indicate that if a minimum walking distance of 400m (about 5 minutes' walk) to BRT stops is considered as proposed by Cervero et al. (2010) and Canepa (2007), only about 5% of the residential area with around 6% of the total population will be served by the proposed DART system. This indicates that within a short walking distance to the DART stops there is a small residential development with few people along the DART corridors.



Figure 4-1: Service area of the proposed DART system based on walking time to stops

Table 4-1: Residential areas an	l population within d	and out of walking dis	stance to the nearest DART	stops
---------------------------------	-----------------------	------------------------	----------------------------	-------

Walking time(min.)	Area (Sq.Km)	Area (%)	Population	% Population
Within 20min.	132.13	31	2,665,343	60
More than 20min.	294.09	69	1,768,629	40
Total	426.22	100	4,433,972	100

Figure 4-2: Residential area and total population proximity to the proposed DART stops



Also based on socio-economic groups who are within a 20 minutes' walk to the proposed DART system, Table 4-2 and Figure 4-3 provide quantitative insight on the absolute number and percentage of each socioeconomic group that can be served at each 5 minutes time interval. It is shown that at each 5 minutes time interval, the most deprived population has lower access to the proposed DART stops compared to other socio-economic groups except at time interval of 15-20 minutes where 85% of this group can have access. This means that most of the population in this group is not found closer to the DART network. Also from Table 4-2, it is depicted that within 20 minutes' walk, a large number of the least deprived population has access to the DART stops compared to other socio-economic groups. This is because most of the population in this group is found within a 10km distance from the CBD where many of the proposed DART stops are likely to be developed. In terms of the overall population within 20 minutes walking distance to the DART stops followed by the fairly deprived and lastly the most deprived population. For instance, up to 15 minutes walking distance to the DART stops, the least deprived and lastly the most deprived population that can have access to stops, followed by the fairly deprived group with just 67%, highly deprived group with just 42% and least deprived group with just 15%.

Walking time(min)	Мо	ost dej	prived	Hig	hly depr	rived	Fai	rly dep	rived	Lea	st depr	ived
	Abs. (000)	%	Cum.%	Abs. (000)	%	Cum. %	Abs. (000)	%	Cum. %	Abs. (000)	%	Cum. %
0 - 5	1.7	3	3	7.3	1	1	25.9	4	4	132.1	9	9
5 - 10	3.3	5	8	78.7	16	17	201.2	30	34	476.4	33	42
10 - 15	5.8	7	15	118.0	25	42	218.8	33	67	413.5	29	71
15 - 20	57.3	85	100	283.7	58	100	218.3	33	100	424.1	29	100
Total	67.1	100		487.7	100		664.2	100		1446.1	100	

Table 4-2: Population by socio-economic groups within walking time to the proposed DART stops



Figure 4-3: Percentage of each residential group per walking time intervals of five minutes to the proposed DART stops

4.1.2. Accessibility to job locations

Since the purpose of the proposed DART system as public transit is to serve both residential and employment locations, accessibility to formal job locations was computed in order to determine the number of job locations that can be accessed by different socio-economic groups who are within 20 minutes walking distance to the proposed DART system. Based on cumulative opportunity measure of accessibility, Figures 4.4a, b, c give a realistic picture of accessibility to formal job locations by presenting a spatial perspective on the number and distribution of reachable job locations from residential locations based on travel times. To allow the comparison between the maps the same scale of accessible job locations was used. Figure 4.4a shows that within a travel time of 30 minutes, residential areas that have relatively high accessibility to potential jobs (13001-20000) are within 5 km from the CBD along Morogoro road. As the travel time increased to 45 minutes (Figure 4.4b) and 60 minutes (Figure 4.4c), the picture of accessibility to jobs changes dramatically as the accessibility distribution spread more out of 5 km from the CBD along the trunk roads. Most of the residential areas along Morogoro, Bagamoyo, and Kilwa roads have more significant gain to job accessibility. This is likely due to more DART service lines from suburb areas to the CBD zone where there is high job agglomeration. Also from all three accessibility maps, it is shown that most residential areas along Pugu road 15 km from the CBD, have relative low accessibility to job locations compared to other residential areas. In practical terms, this is because of long travel time beyond the travel time thresholds, and few DART service lines from those areas to where most job locations are agglomerated.

Additionally, at travel times of 45 and 60 minutes, areas around 10 km from the CDB toward West and North-West have better access to job locations compared to South and South-West. This is because areas toward West and North-West have more DART corridors connection than South and South-West areas. From all three travel times maps also it can be deduced that the South-East areas (Tungi, Mjimwema, and Kibada) have no access to job locations via the DART system because of no DART corridor toward that areas. But a small area at Kigamboni close to Kivukoni has access to jobs because of the connection through ferry which can make people to access the DART terminal of Kivukoni and reach many job locations that are around to the CBD.

Also, Figure 4-5 summarizes the impact of the proposed DART system that could have on the residents' accessibility to job locations under three different travel times (30, 45 and 60 minutes). The results show that for every increase in travel time, there is a significant increase in the number of accessible job locations for each socio-economic group. This means that the proposed DART system will make residents to access different formal job locations that are spatially dispersed within the city. However, for residential locations that are somewhat distant from job locations would have smaller benefit from the DART system because of travelling a long distance in a bus to access the job locations. Also, the results show that at all three travel times the least deprived population can access many numbers of job locations compared to other deprived groups. Whilst the most deprived population can access few numbers of job locations compared to other deprived groups.



c.



Figure 4-4: Number of accessible jobs within 30min, 45min, and 60min by the proposed DART network



Figure 4-5: Mean number of accessible jobs per socio-economic group within 30min, 45min, and 60min. by DART network

4.2. Equity evaluation based on accessibility to job locations

Since vertical equity in transport planning strongly relates to distribution of transport effects such as accessibility to opportunities particularly for those who are worse of (Wee & Geurs, 2011), this section presents an analysis to determine the degrees of inequity based on accessibility to job locations across the socio-economic groups. In another way round, this analysis determines the degree of variations of job accessibility distribution across the population of socio-economic groups. Gini indices in Lorenz curves were used as they provide moral and normative dimensions that allow equity analysis beyond the arithmetical imbalances (as presented in subsection 4.1.2) of job accessibility distributions among the socio-economic groups. (DeVerteuil, 2009).

Figure 4-6a,b,c present the Lorenz curves along with their corresponding Gini indices that indicate the distances of job accessibility situation from the perfect equity at three travel times used in accessibility analysis. The curves mark-out the cumulative percentage of job accessibility (y-axis) against the cumulative percentage of the population (x-axis). The results show that at all three travel times the most and highly deprived population have relatively high degrees of inequity (as presented by Gini indices) compared with least and fairly deprived population. This reflects that at all the three travel times the job accessibility is not evenly spatially distributed across the most and highly deprived population who are tend to be more transit dependents on accessing job opportunities. For instance at one hour travel time, Figure 4-6c depict that 50 percentage of the most deprived population can experience about 30 percentage of accessible job locations which is less compared with other socio-economic groups, who experience more than 40 percentage. The similar trend can also be deduced even in shorter travel times (30 and 45 minutes) as can be seen in Figure 4-6a and b respectively. The results also show that at all three travel times the least deprived population have relatively low degrees of inequity (as presented by Gini indices) compared with other socio-economic groups, who experience more than 40 percentage.



a. Travel time =30 min.

b. Travel time =45 min.



c. Travel time =60 min.

Figure 4-6: Lorenz curves and Gini indices for each socio-economic group at different travel times (60 minutes time threshold was used as an average travel time people in Dar es Salaam like to spend in accessing their workplaces)

4.3. Potential residential areas for DART system extension

The results in section 4.2 indicate that there is some degree of inequity based on job location accessibility for the population living within 20 minutes walking distance to the proposed DART network. In this regard, this section aims to explore the potential residential areas where the proposed DART network could be extended in the future so as to reduce inequitable job accessibility distribution across the socio-economic groups.

4.3.1. Unserved residential areas

As indicated in Figure 4-1, a large part of unserved residential areas by the proposed DART system is located more than 10 km away from the CBD, except for the South-East area where there is no DART corridor. The total population in these areas is about 40% of the total population in the study area. Figure 4-7 also illustrates the population size by socio-economic groups that are not within walking distance to the proposed DART system. It is depicted that a large percentage of most and high deprived population are not living close to the DART system by walking. This means that they are required either to walk more than acceptable distance or use other modes of transport to access the proposed DART stops before accessing the job locations.



Figure 4-7: Population size (in percentage and absolute number) by socio-economic groups not served by the proposed DART system

4.3.2. Residential areas for DART system extension

In subsection 4.3.1 the population size by socio-economic groups that are not in proximity by walking to the proposed DART system was identified. But a crucial issue of social justice point of view is to ensure that the proposed public transit such as DART system able to reduce inequity through offering fair access to opportunities, particularly to the most and highly deprived residential locations. The next step in this section is to identify where the most and highly deprived population reside so that the proposed DART system can be extended in the future and hence reducing inequity based on accessibility to job locations. However, the proposed DART system cannot be extended where there is no or low demand. So to meet such criteria, the potential residential areas having the population size of 7000 inhabitants or more, and located within walking distance of 20 minutes were first identified using proximity count accessibility measure as described in subsection 3.2.5. The results then were overlaid with socio-economic groups to identify where the most and highly deprived population can ensure ridership to the extended DART system.

Figure 4-8 shows unserved residential areas by the DART network having potential population size to meet the demand for DART network extension. The result indicates that most potential areas have 7000 to 50000 population size and few areas with greater than 50000 population. Also, figure 4-9 shows residential areas with the highest potential demand where the proposed DART system can be extended to reduce inequity based on proximity by walking to the DART system and accessibility to job locations. The result indicates that residential areas located in between the proposed DART corridors 10km away from the CBD, and residential areas located in South-East are the potential for the DART system extension since they have the population with most and highly deprived people. These residential areas are the unserved areas (from the proposed DART system) with the potential population of extending BRT system serving more than 7000 population.

Also from the existing road networks of Dar es Salaam, main roads that are close to the residential locations having potential demand (in this case close to most and high deprived areas) were identified and shown in Figure 4-10. This was adopted since it has a more economical option than opening a new corridor for the proposed DART extension. The identified roads can enhance equity based on accessibility to job locations since the high speed of the proposed DART system could able to connect these deprived areas to the agglomerate job areas within a short travel time.

Furthermore, to make these extended DART corridors to have a more beneficial impact on enhancing equity based on accessibility to job locations, the decentralization of the formal jobs/activities¹² can also be considered instead concentrating formal jobs only at the CBD zone. This can at least make the population in most and highly deprived areas to spend not much time on accessing many potential jobs via DART network.

¹² The scenario for decentralizing of the formal jobs/activities closer to the extended DART corridors was not performed in this research because of its modeling complication in GIS software.



Figure 4-8: Potential residential areas (with population size) for the proposed DART system extension



Figure 4-9: Potential residential areas for the proposed DART system extension Note: Black circles represent population size greater than or equal to 7000 overlaid with socio-economic groups



Figure 4-10: Identified roads for the proposed DART system extension

4.4. Discussion on the results

4.4.1. Service areas and population served by the proposed DART system

This study attempts to evaluate the equity of the proposed BRT system in Dar es Salaam (under full implementation by 2035) based on accessibility to job locations for the population living within a desirable walking distance of 20 minutes to that BRT system. Findings of this study indicate that within a zone of 20 km from the CBD (see Figure 4-1), the residential areas served by the proposed DART network is 31%, that is about 12% of the all residential areas in Dar es Salaam. Also, 60% of the population of the case area have access to DART stops, representing about 49% of the entire population of Dar es Salaam. Within the desirable 20 minutes walking distance, access to the proposed DART stops across the socio-economic groups is not uniformly distributed. However, the least deprived population group in the city have a certain favourable access to the DART system because they are within the densely developed DART network zone as compared with the other population groups such as the most, high and fairly deprived population. This is in line with the study conducted by Scholl and Gray (2016) in Lima-Peru and Boisjoly, Serra, Oliveira, and El-geneidy (2019) in four cities of Brazil where they discovered that higher proportion of high-income households have high access compared to low-income households located closer to the rapid transit. According to Marks, Mason, and Oliveira (2016), this is because in many cities rapid transit corridors such as BRT system appear to be developed in areas of relative affluence and not extend far to the periphery

where the majority of poor resides. Also, the findings of this study in another way round disagree with the findings in Cali-Colombia by Scholl and Gray (2016) and Bogota-Colombia by Teunissen, Sarmiento, Zuidgeest, and Brussel (2015) which discovered that lower socio-economic classes benefit a high level of access by walking to a BRT system. The difference in results from this study is because of the differences in planning development control policies whereby in some Global South cities have policies of locating low income people near the mass transit. For example, Bogota has policies such as social housing development which tend to favour low-income population to be located closer to the public transit corridors (Silva, 2016).

4.4.2. Accessibility to job locations

An analysis of accessibility to job locations has the potential of promoting opportunities for interaction between the BRT system and land use (Brussel, Zuidgeest, Pfeffer, & van Maarseveen, 2019). Findings on the full implementation of the DART system as new rapid transit policy show that there is a high potential of promoting of transport-land use integration, which can connect people nearly to most formal job locations within the city. However, the operationalization of the DART system implies that the least and fairly deprived population stand the chance to benefit most than most and highly deprived population groups. This phenomenon appears because the least and fairly deprived population are located near the inner city, where there is high formal activity concentration with well BRT service lines providing good accessibility. This finding is consistent with the studies by Hernandez (2018); Pereira (2018) and Boisjoly et al. (2019) who found that the lowest socio-economic households are largely disadvantaged in terms of accessibility to jobs via rapid public transits in Latin American cities such as São Paulo, Rio de Janeiro, Curitiba Recife and Montevideo due to poor connectivity of public transport to workplaces within a short travel times.

4.4.3. Equity evaluation based on accessibility to job locations

The Lorenz curves and Gini indices across each socio-economic group at different travel times assess the proportional of the population that experience low and high job accessibility distribution. The findings in this study show a relative inequitable access to job locations via the proposed BRT system in Dar es Salaam, as greater proportional of the most deprived population at all three travel times experience lower proportion of accessibility to job locations as compared to other deprived population. These findings are similar to the findings of Boisjoly et al. (2019) in Brazilian cities whereby statistically discovered that at 60 minutes travel time, low-income households have lower job accessibility compared to the high-income households. The results obtained in this study proves that in some Global South cites, to some extent, the benefits of the BRT system based on accessibility to opportunities are skewed towards affluent people due to its insufficient spatial coverage to connect poor people to important opportunities or services as claimed by (Venter et al., 2017).

4.4.4. Potential residential areas for DART system extension

Regarding the results of DART network extension to enhance equitable accessibility to job locations indicate that more extension is required to the periphery of the city where the most and highly deprived population are located. This would likely to have a significant impact on job accessibility to these socio-economic groups as it can able to connect them to formal jobs that are most found to the CBD. But, as it indicated in the analysis in subsection 4.1.2 being only in proximity by walking to the DART network for these socio-economic groups is not sufficient to ensure high accessibility levels to job locations because most of the formal jobs located closer to the CBD. According to Martínez, Hodgson, Mullen, and Timms (2018) and Delmelle and Casas (2012) in their studies, it is also crucial to consider the issue of formal activity decentralization by developing job centres and services closer to where the low income population reside in

order to reduce the accessibility gap between the low income and high-income population. So in this regard, developing job centres closer to the extended DART corridors could also be essential in order to support more equitable distribution of accessibility to jobs across the socio-economic groups. This can only be achieved through developing and implementing land-use policies that focus on a better distribution of jobs and hence reducing the monocentric structure of the city in term of employment. Furthermore, as demonstrated by Boisjoly et al. (2019) formal activity decentralization can also support informal sector development in which many low-income population depends on, particularly in Global South cities.

5. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

This study has examined the equity evaluation of the proposed BRT system in Dar es Salaam (DART) based on accessibility, and explore the potential areas where DART network could be extended to enhance equity within the city. Using the quantitative methods with a combination of both spatial and non-spatial data, this study analyzed the service area and population served within 20 minutes walking distance to the DART stops, accessibility to formal job locations, equity evaluation based on access to formal job locations, and potential areas for the DART system extension to enhance equity. The findings indicate that within the study area about one-third of the total residential area can be served and accommodates a large number of population within 20 minutes walking distance to the DART stops. Evaluating this access by socioeconomic groups, the findings revealed that a greater number of least and fairly deprived population can have good walking access to the DART stops compared to the most and highly deprived population. The reason behind that is due to good spatial coverage of the DART network where the least and fairly deprived population reside and much limited of the network to the periphery where a large number of most and highly deprived population live.

Based on accessibility to formal job locations, the proposed DART system can connect a large number of city's population to the widely dispersed jobs within the city. But high accessibility level can be experienced by the least and fairly deprived population. This is because the least and fairly deprived population are located nearby the job concentration areas where there is a good connection of DART service lines compared to the most and highly deprived people, who are in the periphery where there is little DART service lines connection. Additionally, the equity evaluation across the socio-economic groups shows inequitable access to job locations via the DART system. The most deprived population have a relative high degree of inequity than other deprived groups at all travel times to job locations. This suggests that if there is no intervention taken place, the proposed BRT system in Dar es Salaam may favour more of the socio-economic well off areas than worst-off areas particularly located at the city's periphery.

Finally, based on accessibility measure this study concludes that in order to reduce an inequitable job accessibility distribution, more extension of DART corridors is required to the city's periphery. This can increase both the DART's system service area and its connection to a large number of most deprived population to job locations. Also, the extended DART corridors can be more useful if they are developed together with formal and informal activities nearby. This can lead to the reduction of the job accessibility gap between the most and least deprived population.

In summary, basing on study findings the lesson that can be drawn is that if attention could not be taken by policy makers and transport planners incorporating accessibility analysis in BRT investments, there is a possibility of these investments to invigorate cities' economic development but not overcoming the legacy of inequity across the socio-economic groups.

Limitations and Recommendations for future research

The present study has examined the equity evaluation of the proposed BRT system in Dar es Salaam using physical accessibility. The analysis methods applied in this study can also be replicated with some adaptations in another local context to understand the significant benefits of the BRT system in term of transport-land use interaction to different socio-economic groups and hence the equity impact of the BRT system. But the limitations of using physical accessibility in this study need attentive attention in future studies.

First, the analysis of the service area of the DART system and population that can be served does not consider those who can have access using other transport modes apart from 20 minutes walking. This can be an issue that may be important for users using multiple connections before accessing the BRT stops

Second, due to data unavailability the job accessibility analysis does not consider the informal jobs within a city, the issue that is very important in Global South cities with an underground economy (Pereira, 2018). In Global South cities such as Dar es Salaam large relative share of their population depend on economy constituted with informal labour market (Blades, Ferreira, & Lugo, 2011).

Third, the analysis of access to job locations does not consider distance decay and competition factors. Instead, all the formal job locations treated equally in access. In real life, this is not the case since some job opportunities cannot be accessed by particular individuals due to their individual components such as education level. Therefore the analysis of this does not reflect the travel behavior of individuals to provide a clear picture which job locations have higher access than others.

Fourth, the analysis of this study used the Multidimensional-poverty-index (MPI) data to disaggregate the population in terms of socio-economic perspective. But due to its low resolution of 1x1km, this might led over/underestimation of accessibility by socio-economic groups in some part of the study areas where there is a mixing of different income people. Another study can use data which is not much aggregated (e.g., income by household levels) to categorize population for evaluating the equity in transport accessibility.

Finally, the analysis focused only on accessibility (not in other dimensions of equity) to understand the progressive benefits of the BRT system across the population segments. The future study can examine the BRT system in another dimension of equity such as affordability (appropriateness of its fare structure toward the socio-economic groups) and health and safety (exposure of pollutants and health effects to its user and non-users).

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Ahferon, M. (2009). Sustainability Assessment of a Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) System: The Case of Dar es Salaam, Tanzania (Msc. Thesis). Lund University, Sweden.
- Ahmed, Q. I., Lu, H., & Ye, S. (2007). Urban transportation and equity: A case study of Beijing and Karachi. Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice, 42(1), 125–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2007.06.004
- Albacete, X. (2016). Evaluation and improvements of contour-based accessibility measures Dissertations in Forestry and. The University of Eastern Finland. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.1.3656.3446
- Albert, J. R., & Gaspar, R. E. (2015). Do we really need a multidimensional poverty index? Retrieved December 25, 2018, from https://www.rappler.com/thought-leaders/94436-multidimensionalpoverty-index
- Armstrong-wright, A., & Thiriez, S. (1987). Bus Services: Reducing costs, raising standards. World Bank Technical Paper No 68 Urban Transport Series. Retrieved from
- http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/572491468764379405/pdf/multi-page.pdf Ben-Akiva, M., & Lerman, S. (1979). Disaggregate travel and mobility choice models and measures of accessibility. *Behavioural Travel Modelling*, (1979), 654–679.
- Birch, C. P. D., Oom, S. P., & Beecham, J. A. (2007). Rectangular and hexagonal grids used for observation, experiment and simulation in ecology. *Ecological Modelling*, 6(3–4), 347–359. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2007.03.041
- Blades, D., Ferreira, F. H. G., & Lugo, M. A. (2011). The Informal Economy in Developing Countries an Introduction (57). Review of Income and Wealth. Paris. Retrieved from http://siteresources.worldbank.org/DEC/Resources/84797-1114437274304/BladesFerreiraLugo_Intro.pdf
- Bocarejo S., J. P., & Oviedo H., D. R. (2011). Transport accessibility and social inequities: a tool for identification of mobility needs and evaluation of transport investments. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 24, 142–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2011.12.004
- Boisjoly, G., Serra, B., Oliveira, G. T., & El-Geneidy, A. (2019). Inequity in transit : Evaluating public transport distribution through accessibility measurements in São Paulo, Rio de Janeiro, Curitiba and Recife, Brazil. Transportation Research Board 98th. Retrieved from http://tram.mcgill.ca/Research/Publications/Inequality_in_transit_Brazil.pdf
- Brussel, M., Zuidgeest, M., Pfeffer, K., & van Maarseveen, M. (2019). Access or Accessibility? A Critique of the Urban Transport SDG Indicator. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 8(2), 67. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi8020067
- Canepa, B. (2007). Bursting the Bubble: Determining the Transit-Oriented Development's Walkable Limits. Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, 1992, 28–34. https://doi.org/10.3141/1992-04
- Cao, J., Liu, X. C., Wang, Y., & Li, Q. (2013). Accessibility impacts of China's high-speed rail network. Journal of Transport Geography, 28, 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JTRANGEO.2012.10.008
- Carruthers, R., Dick, M., & Saurkar, A. (2005). Affordability of Public Transport in Developing Countries (Transport Papers series No. TP-3). Washington, DC. Retrieved from https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/17408
- Cervero, R. (2013). Linking urban transport and land use in developing countries. *The Journal of Transport* and Land Use, 6(1), 7–24. https://doi.org/10.5198/jtlu.v1.425
- Cervero, R., Murakami, J., & Miller, M. (2010). Direct Ridership Model of Bus Rapid Transit in Los Angeles County, California. *Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board*, 2145(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.3141/2145-01
- Cervero, R., Sandoval, O., & Landis, J. (2002). Transportation as a Stimulus of Welfare-to-Work: Private versus Public Mobility. *Journal of Planning Education and Research*, 22(1), 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1177/0739456X0202200105
- Cheng, J., & Bertolini, L. (2013). Measuring urban job accessibility with distance decay, competition and diversity. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 30, 100–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2013.03.005
- Chengula, D. H., & Kombe, K. (2017). Assessment of the Effectiveness of Dar Es Salaam Bus Rapid Transit (DBRT) System in Tanzania. *International Journal of Sciences: Basic and Applied Research*, *36*(8), 10–30. Retrieved from http://gssrr.org/index.php?journal=JournalOfBasicAndApplied
- Clos, J. (2016). African Renewal Africa's cities of the future. United Nations. Kigali, Rwanda. Retrieved from

https://www.un.org/africarenewal/sites/www.un.org.africarenewal/files/Africa_Renewal_EN_Apr il_2016.pdf

- Cohen, B. (2006). Urbanization in developing countries: Current trends, future projections, and key challenges for sustainability. *Technology in Society*, 28, 63–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.techsoc.2005.10.005
- Dalvi, M. Q., & Martin, K. M. (1976). The measurement of accessibility: Some preliminary results. *Transportation*, 5(1), 17–42. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00165245
- Dar es Salaam City Council. (2008). Dar es Salaam Transport Policy and System Development Master Plan: Prepared by Japan International Cooperation Agency. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Retrieved from http://open_jicareport.jica.go.jp/pdf/11897527.pdf
- Dar es Salaam City Council. (2018a). The Project for Revision of Dar Es Salaam Urban Transport Master Plan in United Republic of Tanzania (Vol.1): Prepared by Japan International Cooperation Agency (Unpublished). Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.
- Dar es Salaam City Council. (2018b). The Project for Revision of Dar Es Salaam Urban Transport Master Plan in United Republic of Tanzania (Vol.2): Prepared by Japan International Cooperation Agency (Unpublished). Dar es Salaam, Tanzania.
- DART. (2014). Dar Rapid Transit (DART) Project Phase 1: Project Information Memorandum. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Retrieved from https://studylib.net/doc/18796429/-dart--project-phase-1-projectinformation-memorandum
- De Jong, T., & Van Eck, J. R. (1996). Location profile-based measures as an improvement on accessibility modelling in GIS. *Computers, Environment and Urban Systems*, 20(3), 181–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0198-9715(96)00013-0
- Delbosc, A., & Currie, G. (2011). Using Lorenz curves to assess public transport equity. Journal of Transport Geography, 19(6), 1252–1259. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2011.02.008
- Delmelle, E. C., & Casas, I. (2012). Evaluating the spatial equity of bus rapid transit-based accessibility patterns in a developing country: The case of Cali, Colombia. *Transport Policy*, *20*, 36–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2011.12.001
- Deng, T., & Nelson, J. D. (2011). Recent developments in bus rapid transit: A review of the literature. *Transport Reviews*, 31(1), 69–96. https://doi.org/10.1080/01441647.2010.492455
- DeVerteuil, G. (2009). Inequality. International Encyclopedia of Human Geography, 433–445. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-008044910-4.00963-9
- El-Geneidy, A., Levinson, D., Diab, E., Boisjoly, G., Verbich, D., & Loong, C. (2016). The cost of equity: Assessing transit accessibility and social disparity using total travel cost. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, *91*, 302–316.
- El-Geneidy, A. M., Cerda, A., Fischler, R., & Luka, N. (2011). The use of accessibility measures to evaluate the impacts of transportation plans: An application in Montréal, Québec. *Canadian Journal of Urban Research*, 20(1), 81–104.
- El-Geneidy, A. M., & Levinson, D. M. (2006). Access to Destinations: Development of Accessibility Measures. (Report No. 2006-16). Minneapolis, USA: Minnesota Department of Transportation Research Services Section 395 John Ireland Boulevard.
- Esri UK &Ireland. (2018). ArcGIS Network Analyst | Multimodal Network Support. Retrieved August 26, 2018, from http://www.esriuk.com/software/arcgis/extensions/networkanalyst/multi-modal
- Fan, Y., Guthrie, A. E., & Levinson, D. M. (2012). Impact of light rail implementation on labor market accessibility: A transportation equity perspective. *Journal of Transport and Land Use*, 5(3), 28–39. https://doi.org/10.5198/jtlu.v5i3.240
- Foda, M. A., & Osman, A. O. (2010). Using GIS for Measuring Transit Stop Accessibility Considering Actual Pedestrian Road Network. *Journal of Public Transportation*, 13(4), 23–40.
- Ford, A., Barr, S., Dawson, R., & James, P. (2015). Transport Accessibility Analysis Using GIS: Assessing Sustainable Transport in London. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 4(1), 124– 149. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi4010124
- Foth, N., Manaugh, K., & El-Geneidy, A. M. (2013). Towards equitable transit: Examining transit accessibility and social need in Toronto, Canada, 1996-2006. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 29, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.12.008
- Geertman, S. C. M., & Ritsema Van Eck, J. R. (1995). GIS and models of accessibility potential: an application in planning. *International Journal of Geographical Information Systems*, 9(1), 67–80. https://doi.org/10.1080/02693799508902025
- Geurs, K. T., & van Wee, B. (2004). Accessibility evaluation of land-use and transport strategies: review

and research directions. *Journal of Transport Geography*, *12*(2), 127–140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2003.10.005

- Guzman, L. A., & Oviedo, D. (2018). Accessibility, affordability and equity: Assessing 'pro-poor' public transport subsidies in Bogotá. *Transport Policy*, 68, 37–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2018.04.012
- Halden, D., Jones, P., & Wixey, S. (2005). Measuring Accessibility as experienced by Different Socially Disadvantage Groups (3 No. 3). London, UK. Retrieved from https://www.academia.edu/3322411/Accessibility_Analysis_Literature_Review_Measuring_accessi
- bility_as_experienced_by_different_socially_disadvantage_groups_Working_Paper_3 Hansen, W. G. (1959). How Accessibility Shapes Land Use. *Journal of the American Institute of Planners*, 25(2), 73–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944365908978307
- Hernandez, D. (2018). Uneven Mobilities, Uneven Opportunities: Social Distribution of PublicTransport Accessibility to Jobs and Education in Montevideo. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 67, 119–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JTRANGEO.2017.08.017
- Hill, A., Hühner, T., Kreibich, V., & Lindner, C. (2014). Dar es Salaam, Megacity of Tomorrow: Informal Urban Expansion and the Provision of Technical Infrastructure. In *Megacities: Our Global Urban Future* (pp. 165–177). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-3417-5_12
- Hong, H., Jiang, Z., & Yin, Y. (2018). An intelligent conceptual design framework for complex machines. *Procedia CIRP*, 72, 586–591. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2018.03.041
- Jang, S., An, Y., Yi, C., & Lee, S. (2017). Assessing the spatial equity of Seoul's public transportation using the Gini coefficient based on its accessibility. *International Journal of Urban Sciences*, 21(1), 91–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/12265934.2016.1235487
- Jaramillo, C., Lizárraga, C., & Grindlay, A. L. (2012). Spatial disparity in transport social needs and public transport provision in Santiago de Cali (Colombia). *Journal of Transport Geography*, 24, 340–357. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.04.014
- Jennings, G. (2015). Public Transport Interventions and Transport Justice in South Africa : a Literature and Policy Review. In *34th Annual Southern African Transport Conference 2015* (pp. 764–775). Retrieved from http://hdl.handle.net/2263/57779
- Jiang, Y., Zegras, P. C., & Mehndiratta, S. (2012). Walk the line: station context, corridor type and bus rapid transit walk access in Jinan, China. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 20(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2011.09.007
- Jones, P., & Lucas, K. (2012). The social consequences of transport decision-making: Clarifying concepts, synthesising knowledge and assessing implications. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 21, 4–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.01.012
- Joseph, A. E., & Phillips, D. R. (1984). Accessibility and Utilization: Geographical Perspectives on Health Care Delivery (1st ed.). London, UK: Harper & Row.
- Karner, A., & Niemeier, D. (2013). Civil rights guidance and equity analysis methods for regional transportation plans: A critical review of literature and practice. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 33, 126–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2013.09.017
- Kiunsi, R. (2013). A Review of Traffic Congestion in Dar es Salaam City from the Physical Planning Perspective. *Journal of Sustainable Development*, 6(2). https://doi.org/10.5539/jsd.v6n2p94
- Knox, P. L. (1980). Measures of Accessibility as Social indicators. *Social Indicators Research*, 7(10), 367–377. Retrieved from https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/BF00305607.pdf
- Koenig, J. G. (1980). Indicators of urban accessibility: Theory and application. *Transportation*, 9(2), 145–172. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00167128
- Lättman, K., Friman, M., & Olsson, L. E. (2016). Perceived Accessibility of Public Transport as a Potential Indicator of Social Inclusion. *Social Inclusion*, 4(3), 36. https://doi.org/10.17645/si.v4i3.481
- Lemans, D. (2016). Assessing the accessibility and equity of the urban public transport services (Msc. Thesis). TUdelft. Retrieved from https://repository.tudelft.nl/islandora/object/uuid:d69faad6-4db5-4241-8633-2515a8be04bd/5a8be04bd
- Litman, T. (2018). Evaluating Transportation Equity: Guidance for Incorporating Distributional Impacts in Transportation Planning. Victoria Transport Policy Institute (Vol. 8). Victoria. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9671.00112
- Lorenz, M. O. (1905). Methods of measuring the concentration of wealth. *American Statistical Association*, 9(70).
- Lucas, K., & Jones, P. (2012). Social impacts and equity issues in transport: An introduction. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 21, 1–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2012.01.032

- Lucas, K., van Wee, B., & Maat, K. (2015). A method to evaluate equitable accessibility: combining ethical theories and accessibility-based approaches. *Transportation*, 43(3), 473–490. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11116-015-9585-2
- Mahrous, R. F. (2012). Multimodal Transportation Systems: Modelling Challenges. Msc Thesis, Faculty of Geo-Information Science and Earth Observation. University of Twente.
- Manaugh, K. (2010). Who benefits from new transportation infrastructure ? Evaluating social equity in transit provision in Montreal. In 57th Annual North American Meetings of the Regional Science Association International (pp. 1–24). Montreal, Canada: McGill University.
- Mandloi, D., & Thill, J.-C. (2010). Object-Oriented Data Modeling of an Indoor/Outdoor Urban Transportation Network and Route Planning Analysis. In Bin Jiang & X. Yao (Eds.), Geospatial Analysis and Modelling of Urban Structure and Dynamics (Vol. 99, p. 197). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-90-481-8572-6
- Marks, M., Mason, J., & Oliveira, G. (2016). People Near Transit: Improving Accessibility and Rapid Transit Coverage in Large Cities. Mexico. Retrieved from https://www.itdp.org/wpcontent/uploads/2016/10/People-Near-Transit.pdf
- Marsh, M. T., & Schilling, D. A. (1994). Equity measurement in facility location analysis: A review and framework. *European Journal of Operational Research*, 74(1), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/0377-2217(94)90200-3
- Martin. (2015). Using OSM building footprints to disaggregate OGD census data | gicycle. Retrieved November 27, 2018, from https://gicycle.wordpress.com/2015/08/17/using-osm-building-footprints-to-disaggregate-ogd-census-data/
- Martínez, C. F., Hodgson, F., Mullen, C., & Timms, P. (2018). Creating inequality in accessibility: The relationships between public transport and social housing policy in deprived areas of Santiago de Chile. *Journal of Transport Geography*, 67, 102–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtrangeo.2017.09.006
- Martínez, J. (2005). Monitoring intra-urban inequalities with GIS-based indicators: With a case study in Rosario, Argentina (PhD. Thesis). Utrecht University. Retrieved from https://dspace.library.uu.nl/bitstream/handle/1874/7346/full.pdf
- McCahill, C., & Ebeling, M. (2015). Tools for measuring accessibility in an equity framework. In *Congress for the New Urbanism 23rd Annual Meeting*. Dallas, Texas.
- Melbye, D. C., Møller-Jensen, L., Andreasen, M. H., Kiduanga, J., & Busck, A. G. (2015). Accessibility, congestion and travel delays in Dar es Salaam - A time-distance perspective. *Habitat International*, 46, 178–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.habitatint.2014.12.004
- Metropolitan Council. (2018). Land Use and Local Planning. In 2040 Transportation Policy Planning (pp. 1– 31). Retrieved from https://metrocouncil.org/Transportation/Planning-2/Key-Transportation-Planning-Documents/Transportation-Policy-Plan/tpp-update/2018-Transportation-Policy-Plan-Update/Chapter-3-Land-Use-and-Local-Planning.aspx
- Mfinanga, D. (2012). Challenges and Opportunities for the Integration of Commuter Minibus Operators into the Dar es Salaam City BRT System. In *CODATUXV: The role of urban mobility in (re)shaping cities*. Addis Ababa (Ethiopia). Retrieved from http://www.codatu.org/wp-content/uploads/David-Mfinanga-ARTICLE-Codatu-XV-2012-EN.pdf
- Miller, H. J., & Shaw, S.-L. (2001). GIS-T Data Models. In Geographic Information Systems for Transportation: Principles and Applications (pp. 53–84). Oxford University Press. Retrieved from http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.457.3857&rep=rep1&type=pdf
- Mkalawa, C. C., & Haixiao, P. (2014). Dar es Salaam city temporal growth and its influence on transportation. Urban, Planning and Transport Research, 2(1), 423–446. https://doi.org/10.1080/21650020.2014.978951
- Musliman, I. A., Rahman, A. A., & Coors, V. (2008). Implementing 3D Network Analysis in 3D-GIS. The International Archives of the Photogrammetry, Remote Sensing and Spatial Information Sciences, 37, 913–918. https://doi.org/http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/pdf/10.1596/1813-9450-4308
- National Bureau of Statistics Tanzania. (2013). 2012 Population and Housing Census:Population Distribution by Administrative Areas. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Retrieved from http://ihi.eprints.org/1344/
- Nicholls, S. (2001). Measuring the accessibility and equity of public parks: A case study using GIS. *Managing Leisure*, 6(4), 201–219. https://doi.org/10.1080/13606710110084651
- Nkurunziza, A., van Maarseveen, M. F. a. M., & Zuidgeest, M. H. P. (2013). Sustainable transport in Dar-es-Salaam: the potential for BRT and cycling from a user perspective (PhD. Thesis). University of Twente. https://doi.org/available at:http://www.itc.nl/library/papers_2013/phd/nkurunziza.pdf
- Oneko, G. (2017). Assessment of Stakeholder Needs and Sdss Tool Application for Collaborative Brt Infrastructure

Planning (Msc. Thesis). University of Twente.

- Ortega, E., Monzón, A., & López, E. (2013). Efficiency and spatial equity impacts of high-speed rail extensions in urban areas. *Cities*, 30, 18–30. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2011.11.002
- Oxford University. (2018). Policy A Multidimensional Approach | OPHI. Retrieved November 27, 2018, from https://ophi.org.uk/policy/multidimensional-poverty-index/
- Pereira, R. (2018). Distributive Justice and Transportation Equity : Inequality in accessibility in Rio de Janeiro (PhD. Thesis). University of Oxford. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/328969941
- Rahman, M., & Neema, M. (2015). A GIS Based Integrated Approach to Measure the Spatial Equity of Community Facilities of Bangladesh. *AIMS Geosciences*, 1(1), 21–40. https://doi.org/10.3934/geosci.2015.1.21
- Rastogi, R., Thaniarasu, I., & Chandra, S. (2011). Design Implications of Walking Speed for Pedestrian Facilities. *Journal of Transportation Engineering*, 137(10), 687–696. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)TE.1943-5436.0000251
- Sanchez, T. W., Shen, Q., & Peng, Z. (2004). Transit Mobility, Jobs Access and Low-income Labour Participation in US Metropolitan Areas. Urban Studies, 41(7), 1313–1331. https://doi.org/10.1080/0042098042000214815
- Scholl, L., & Gray, C. (2016). Mobility and Accessibility effects of IDB-supported BRT systems in Cali and Lima. Washington, D.C. Retrieved from https://publications.iadb.org/.../Urban-Transport-and-Poverty-Mobility-and-Accessibility-Effects-of-IDB-supported-BRT-Systems-in-Cali-and-Lima.pdf.
- Shah, J., & Adhvaryu, B. (2016). Public Transport Accessibility Levels for Ahmedabad, India. Journal of Public Transportation, 19(3), 19–35. https://doi.org/10.5038/2375-0901.19.3.2
- Sheuya, S. A. (2010). *Informal settlements and finance in Dar es Salaam, Tanzania*. Nairobi, Kenya. Retrieved from https://unhabitat.org/informal-settlements-and-finance-in-dar-es-salaam-tanzania/
- Silva, E. (2016). Increamental Housing Project in Bogota, Colombia; The Case Study of "Ciudad Bachue" (Msc. Thesis). Technische Universität Berlin. Retrieved from

http://web.mit.edu/incrementalhousing/articlesPhotographs/pdfs/CiudadB.pdf

- Teunissen, T., Sarmiento, O., Zuidgeest, M., & Brussel, M. (2015). Mapping Equality in Access : The Case of Bogotá 's Sustainable Transportation Initiatives. *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, 9(7), 457–467. https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2013.808388
- Tolley, R. S., & Turton, B. J. (1995). *Transport systems, policy and planning: a geographical approach*. London, UK: New York Routledge, Taylor & Francis. Retrieved from https://trid.trb.org/view/453450
- Transportation Association of Canada. (2007). *Strategies for Sustainable Transportation Planning*. Ottawa, Canada. Retrieved from https://www.tac-atc.ca/sites/tac-atc.ca/files/site/doc/resources/briefing-sustain-trans-prac_0.pdf
- Tsou, K.-W., Hung, Y.-T., & Chang, Y.-L. (2005). An accessibility-based integrated measure of relative spatial equity in urban public facilities. *Cities*, 22(6), 424–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2005.07.004
- UNDESA. (2014). World's population increasingly urban with more than half living in urban areas. Retrieved July 28, 2018, from http://www.un.org/en/development/desa/news/population/worldurbanization-prospects-2014.html
- United Republic of Tanzania. (2007). Consultancy Services for the Conceptual Design of a Long term Integrated Dar es Salaam BRT System and Detailed Design For the Initial Corridor (Vol. 1). Dar es Salaam. Retrieved from http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/479381468311398469/pdf/E16870vol-01.pdf
- United Republic of Tanzania. (2017). National Accounts of Tanzania Mainland (Vol. 1). Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Retrieved from

https://www.nbs.go.tz/nbs/takwimu/na/National_Accounts_Statistics_of_Tanzania _Mainland_2016.pdf

- Venter, C., Jennings, G., Hidalgo, D., & Valderrama Pineda, A. F. (2017). The equity impacts of bus rapid transit: A review of the evidence and implications for sustainable transport. *International Journal of Sustainable Transportation*, 12(2), 140–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/15568318.2017.1340528
- Verbich, D., & El-Geneidy, A. (2017). Public transit fare structure and social vulnerability in Montreal, Canada. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 96, 43–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2016.12.003
- Wee, B. van, & Geurs, K. (2011). Discussing Equity and Social Exclusion in Accessibility Evaluations. European Journal of Transport and Infrastructure Research, 11(4), 350–367. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.18757/ejtir.2011.11.4.2940
- World Bank. (2017). Dar es Salaam Urban Transport Improvement Project. Dar es Salaam, Tanzania. Retrieved

from http://projects.worldbank.org/P150937?lang=en

- Wright, L. (2002). Bus Rapid Transit: Module 3b (Sustainable transport: a sourcebook for policy-makers in developing cities). London, UK: Deutsche Gesellschaft f
 ür Technische Zusammenarbeit (GTZ). Retrieved from https://www.itdp.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/Module-3b-Bus-Rapid-Transit.pdf
- Wu, B. M., & Hine, J. P. (2003). A PTAL approach to measuring changes in bus service accessibility. *Transport Policy*, 10(4), 307–320. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0967-070X(03)00053-2
- Zhen, C. (2013). Geo-spatial modeling for competition-based accessibility to job locations for the urban poor: case study in Ahmedabad (Msc. Thesis). University of Twente. Retrieved from https://webapps.itc.utwente.nl/librarywww/papers_2013/msc/upm/chaozhen.pdf
- Zuidgeest, M. H. P., Brussel, M. J. G., Arora, A., Bhamidipati, S., Amer, S., De Souza, F. A. M., & Godefrooij, T. (2009). On bus-bike integration Final Consultants 'Report On bus-bike integration. Retrieved from https://www.researchgate.net/publication/262086793_On_bus-bike_integration

APPENDICES



Appendix 1: BRT phase-1 on segregated lanes while commuter buses/daladala on mixed lanes



Appendix 2: BRT phase-1, trunk, and its feeder routes

Mtandao wa Mwendo Kasi



Appendix 3: Preparation process of DART routes/ service lines







Appendix 5: Connectivity of road and DART datasets in GIS software

eneral Sources Turns Connectivity Eleve	tion Attributes Travel Modes Directions	Optimizations			
Connectivity Groups:					
Source DARTnetwork_BRT_dummylinks DARTnetwork_BRT_routes Roads DARTnetwork_BRT_falsestops DARTnetwork_BRTstops	Connectivity Policy End Point End Point Any Vertex Honor Honor		2 3 2		
	Table [] - 1월 - 1월 5월 □ 4월 34 Besidential Hexagons	-	×		
-----------------------------	---	--	--------	--	--
Residential locations, i	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	(4) (49)(199) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4) (4	* *		
Road ,	India D × 21 - 100 + 1000 + 100 + 100 + 100 + 100 + 100 + 100 + 100 + 100 + 100				
and DART networks	Bole Stape Id Name Image: Stape Id Image: Stape Image: Stape Image: Stape Image: Stape Image: Stape I				
	Table × I · Q · I · Q · V Q · Q · V Dummy_links × I · I Polying 2M 3 I · Polying 2M 3 J · V · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
	DARTnetwork_route_lines Into * Route 10 Route 10 <th <="" colspan="2" td="" th<=""><td>stutive stops (m) Spec 782 623 613 148 613 148 613 69 673 876 345 285 386 137 1285 1 715 783 762 623</td><td>d (m/min) Trav 383 333 383 333</td><td>el_Time (min) 2.0416 1.5996 1.3400 1.7575 0.90074 0.9525 3.3524 1.8672 2.0416</td></th>	<td>stutive stops (m) Spec 782 623 613 148 613 148 613 69 673 876 345 285 386 137 1285 1 715 783 762 623</td> <td>d (m/min) Trav 383 333 383 333</td> <td>el_Time (min) 2.0416 1.5996 1.3400 1.7575 0.90074 0.9525 3.3524 1.8672 2.0416</td>		stutive stops (m) Spec 782 623 613 148 613 148 613 69 673 876 345 285 386 137 1285 1 715 783 762 623	d (m/min) Trav 383 333 383 333
Job locations, j	Table □ × Image: Image interval in				

(0 out of 1897 Selected)

Appendix 6: Attribute variables used to compute accessibility in GIS-environment